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Note 
This Annual Report presents the financial results of, and developments within, Coöperatie Coforta U.A. and its 

sales organisation The Greenery B.V. for the year 2011. The Annual Report and consolidated financial statements 

of Coöperatie Coforta were prepared under the responsibility of the Management Board of the Cooperative. This 

document includes the Annual Report of The Greenery B.V. and its subsidiaries. The Annual Report was drawn 

up on 31 December 2011. The official Annual Report was compiled and adopted in the Dutch language on 28 

March 2012 by the Members’ Council. This document is a translation of the official Annual report.
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The Greenery’s goal is to achieve this success through highly effective collaboration 
with customers, growers and other partners in the chain. This is how The Greenery 
creates healthy business. Based on consumer data and adapting the supply chain to suit 
consumers’ needs, our business remains the sector leader, along with our partners. 

The Greenery B.V. is an international fresh produce company whose shares are fully 
owned by Coöperatie Coforta, with approximately 900 affiliated growers. The growers 
of the Cooperative and the company combined have considerable expertise in the field 
of vegetables, fruit and mushrooms, in terms of cultivation, products, consumers and 
logistics. This knowledge makes The Greenery a reliable partner for retail customers when 
it comes to filling their fruit and vegetable sections. 

The Greenery aims to be the most attractive sales outlet for its growers. Our specialist 
product approach takes the form of six product units (soft fruit, top fruit, vegetable fruits, 
field produce, mushrooms and imports) results in close collaboration with growers and 
the realisation of efficient long-term supply chains. 

With operations in over 40 countries, The Greenery is one of the world’s largest 
companies in the fruit, vegetable and potato industry. Our biggest core markets are 
the Benelux territory, Germany, the United Kingdom and France. We are also active in 
Southern Europe, Scandinavia, Russia, Central Europe, North America and the Far East. 
Turnover in 2011 reached € 1.6 billion.

Over 1500 staff work daily for The Greenery on the sales, marketing and logistics of 
vegetables, fruit and mushrooms. With a full year-round assortment of vegetable fruits, 
soft fruit, top fruit, mushrooms, field produce, exotic produce and related convenience 
products, our staff work day after day to properly fulfil the mission of the organisation. 

The Greenery has branches in the Netherlands, Belgium, Spain, the UK, Germany, Poland, 
Italy, Russia, Romania, China and the USA. The Greenery has nine subsidiary companies, 
set up to ensure that each market supplied by the sales organisation is optimally served. 
Each of these companies is specialised in a particular product range and/or market. 

The Greenery operates on the basis of a number of core values that are reflected in all of 
its activities and contacts with customers, staff, growers and suppliers; these values can 
be summarised by the words: enterprising, high quality, informed, fresh and trendsetting.

The Greenery works every day with its growers, staff, customers and suppliers 

to provide consumers all over the world with natural, healthy and ultra-fresh 

vegetables, fruit and mushrooms. ‘Success in Fresh Produce’ is what The 

Greenery aims for and what it promises its customers. 

The Greenery at a glance

Geographic distribution 
of the Sales units

Benelux

Southern Europe

Germany & Northern Europe

Central Europe & Russia

UK & Overseas

Branches



 Philip Smits
 General Manager, The Greenery

 ‘Both growers and 
  retailers alike want 
  solid, reliable   
  partners.’
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Foreword

 Theo Ammerlaan
 Chairman, Coöperatie 

 Coforta  U.A. 

‘ 2011 has shown
 once again that a
 secure pooling of 
 strengths in the   
 chain is the only
 way to take on
 unexpected   
 challenges.’  
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The trends of retail concentration and the rising demand for products of local origin 
continued within the various markets into 2011. It was also the year of the fire in 
Moerdijk and the EHEC crisis, events that had an unexpectedly high impact on the sector 
as a whole. The poor summer in North West Europe greatly affected consumption, and 
contributed to unbalanced supply and demand in various product groups. These external 
developments have primarily affected the results of individual members of Coöperatie 
Coforta, one example being the yield per square metre among vegetable fruit growers 
which was 27% lower per square metre on average than in 2010.

The Greenery further simplified its commercial process in 2011 through the 
implementation of a market approach using product specialisation. The soft fruit, top 
fruit, mushroom, field produce, vegetable fruits and import product units bear integral 
responsibility for the commercial results and the prices paid to the growers for their 
products. This market approach has resulted in closer collaboration with the growers 
and more frequent contact between growers and retailers, supported and facilitated by 
The Greenery. The sales units have been maintained and work closely together with the 
product units to serve the customers in the various core markets.

In 2011, cooperation with various retail customers was intensified in order to produce 
more efficient, long-term supply channels. We aim to keep product supply chains 
as short as possible, so that the products arrive in stores with maximum freshness. 
Together with growers and supermarket chains, The Greenery has taken action to further 
address sustainability issues within the fruit, vegetable and potato sector. Examples 
include tracking & tracing, sustainable growing and clarity regarding product origins 
and cultivation methods. Our own business operations involve continuous analysis of 
improvements, particularly concerning reduction of CO2 emissions. In 2011, The Greenery 
won the Lean & Green Award for its efforts in this regard. 

The above-mentioned developments meant continued pressure on profits and pricing. 
The 2011 operating result was negative, mainly due to the repercussions of the EHEC 
crisis. The Greenery’s widespread international activities resulted in a positive net result 
while at the same time strengthening its position among retailers, both nationally and 

2011 was a turbulent year for the fruit, vegetable and mushroom sector. It 

was a year in which several trends manifested more clearly and in which we 

were faced with unforeseen developments that had a major impact on the 

entire sector. All of this placed great demands on the resilience of Coöperatie 

Coforta and that of its affiliates, proving the value of a strong alliance.
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internationally. In order to secure this position within the international fruit, vegetable 
and potato sector moving into the future, cost-cutting measures were increased in 
2011. From the strategic perspective of ‘operational excellence’, the implementation 
of SAP at Greenery Benelux represented a significant milestone.  
 
Looking back, the predominant feeling over the previous year was a positive one. 
2011 has shown once again that a secure pooling of strengths is the tried-and-tested 
way to deal with unexpected developments. We are therefore proud of the enormous 
efforts and company team spirit exhibited by our growers and staff. 

Together we can take on the future: a future in which we will harvest success! 

Philip Smits Theo Ammerlaan
General Manager, The Greenery B.V.  Chairman, Coöperatie Coforta U.A.
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2011 2010

Turnover from members’ products 636 749

Total operating income 1.609 1.843

Volume increase/decrease (6,0%) 0,3%

Net turnover 1.099 1.263

Gross contribution 199 213

Staff costs 97 95

Depreciation 22 26

Other operating costs 84 88

Other operating expenses 203 209

Operating result (4) 4

Financial income and expenses (6) (8)

Tax on profit 3 1

Profit from participating interests 9 8

Minority shares in group profit 0 0

Net profit 2 5

Cash flows
Additions 25 15

Disposals 15 21

Cash flow from operating and investment activities (12) 7

Equity and financing
Balance sheet total 496 509
Invested capital* 328 316
Return on average invested capital -1,2% 1,1%
Capital base 207 209
Capital base as a percentage of total assets 41,7% 41,0%
Interest-bearing debt 169 146
Members’ loans 82 86

Number of employees
Full-time equivalents (FTEs) as at 31 December 1.507 1.631

Consolidated profit and loss account

  Key figures

(amounts in millions of Euros)

*The sum of fixed assets and net working capital



 Arno Loos  
 Strawberry grower

‘ I supply a delicious, 
 healthy and 
 sustainable product. 
 The Greenery 
 provides added 
 value, thanks to 
 their international 
 contacts and 
 expertise when it 
 comes to packaging, 
 promotion and 
 logistics.’
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Gerard van Loon  
 Soft Fruit Product Manager

‘ By adjusting 
 profitability to suit
 market demand 
 with the grower,   
 we create joint 
 success within the 
 supply chain.’ 

Added value
The sector can strengthen its position by concentrating on added value instead of on the 
cost price. Based on this philosophy, The Greenery has raised its market distinctiveness 
by investing in product specialisation, marketing expertise and the provision of logistics 
services. Together with its growers, The Greenery wishes to continue to surprise its 
customers by offering innovative concepts and solutions in terms of product range, 
flavour, packaging, quality, sustainability and food safety.

Operational excellence
Operational excellence is a must in a market where a large proportion of the product 
range consists of mass-produced produce and the main focus is on price. 2011 once 
again involved a major focus on more efficient logistics and cost-cutting measures. 
The Greenery has carried out various improvement projects, one example being 
the implementation of SAP at Greenery Benelux. The six product units bear integral 
responsibility for the commercial results and for the prices paid to the growers. This 
simplified commercial process has resulted in greater commercial leverage.

Creating a healthy business through highly effective collaboration is the goal 

pursued by The Greenery. The strategy we employ to achieve this objective 

involves constantly aiming to generate added value and deliver operational 

excellence.

Key strategies of 
The Greenery B.V.



 Bert Wilschut 
 Top Fruit Product Manager

‘ Success is only   
 possible through 
 cooperation 
 in international 
 partnerships.’
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Jaco Smit 
 Capespan (South Africa)

‘ We believe that 
 the club varieties 
 are the future.’

In 2011, a turbulent year marked by the EHEC crisis, we realised a positive 

net result of € 1.9 million – clearly lower than the 2010 results (€ 4.8 million). 

Turnover reached € 1.61 billion in 2011, compared to € 1.84 billion in 2010.

The incidental effect of the EHEC crisis on the results was significant, amounting to 
approx. € 6 million, and was partly responsible for a drop in sales volumes of around 
6%. At the peak of production in the Netherlands, the EHEC crisis virtually shut down the 
market for major products such as cucumbers, tomatoes, bell peppers and various salad 
crops for several weeks. During the important summer period, Russia closed its borders 
to Dutch product imports for some time, resulting in low prices and additional costs. The 
poor summer weather that followed the EHEC period further hampered price recovery.

Concurrently however, significant improvements were carried out in The Greenery’s 
commercial and logistics departments, increasing the company’s leverage and efficiency. 
This inspires confidence for the future.

Members’ acreage and volumes produced in 2011 were virtually the same as in 2010. 
The EHEC crisis had a pronounced effect, as stated above. At € 636 million, turnover 
from production by members of the Cooperative was over € 110 million lower than 
the previous year. The circumstances described earlier put many members in a difficult 
financial position. Where possible, the Coforta Cooperative supported its members 
through the EHEC crisis, for example by making a € 4 million advance contribution to 
support from the European Union.

More steps were taken in 2011 towards the implementation of the logistics vision, by 
integrating the activities at the Maasland and Bleiswijk branches. The Maasland site 
ceased operations on 1 December 2011 and ultimately will be sold. In late 2011, it was 
decided to close the Venlo branch which will happen in 2012. These measures have 
resulted in improved service delivery to our customers and a fixed drop in costs of around 
€ 5 million p/a. The number of employees on a fixed contract at The Greenery dropped 
in 2011 from 1,631 to 1,507. Discharge expenses, collective agreement increases and 
higher pension costs due to the IAS 19 guidelines have caused total staff costs to rise to
€ 96.7 million in 2011 (compared to € 95.3 million in 2010).

1.1 Financial results and developments
 

General Management 
Report1.



positive net result

€ 1.900.000
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Operational excellence has been included as one of The Greenery’s key 
strategies. One of the projects in this context is the implementation of a 
new operating system which focuses on improved information provision 
and scheduling of product flows. This project, supported by SAP software, 
is being carried out under the ‘Smarter and Better’ programme. 
The amount of time and money required to roll out this project is 
considerable.

Under miscellaneous operating costs, a book profit of € 1 million was 
made on the sale of a property in De Lier. 

The balance of income and expenses (mainly concerning interest 
charges) dropped further in 2011 and reached € 6.5 million (compared 
to € 7.5 million in 2010), primarily due to the influence of lower interest 
rates. The Greenery’s minority interests, Hessing, a vegetable and fruit 
supplier and the Euro Pool System packaging company, performed well 
in 2011 raising results from participating interests from € 8.3 million in 
2010 to € 9.4 million in 2011. 

Investments and disposals 
In 2011 assets linked to investments in growers’ businesses were 
transferred to members, and new investments were also made in 
growers’ businesses. As part of this process, loans were paid off and 
new loans taken out. On balance, € 0.7 million worth of loans were paid 
off. In addition to the transfer of assets to members, a piece of property 
at De Lier was also sold off as part of the slimming-down of our real 
estate portfolio. The revaluation of property in 2011 did not result in 
adjustments to the value of The Greenery’s real estate. The remaining 
company investments related primarily to replacement and maintenance 
investments, as well as limited investments associated with the logistics 
integration in Bleiswijk.

Financing
Equity capital continued to rise, reaching € 75 million. In 2011 this 
rise was not affected by the property revaluation. The balance of the 
mandatory member loans dropped by around € 2.7 million, due to 
the 2011 addition that was smaller than the release of member loans 
from 8 years ago. The EHEC crisis resulted in lower turnover in 2011 
and with it also a reduced accrual of member loans than in 2010. The 
obligatory member loans formed by deducting 1% of member turnover 
are subordinated loans of members to The Greenery. These deductions 
were converted into member loans with an 8-year term. These member 
loans constitute an important element of The Greenery’s capital base 
which dropped by an absolute value of € 2 million compared to last 
year, reaching € 207 million. A small drop in the balance total caused 
the capital base percentage relative to the balance total to rise a small 
amount to 41.7%. 

New agreements were made with banks in 2011, resulting in
an increase in the company’s finance capital and a reduction in 
financing costs.

positive net result

€ 1.900.000
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equity capital has risen to € 
75.000.000

The Cooperative’s policy is to limit risks to an acceptable level where 
possible, including managing credit, liquidity and cash flow risks. Much of 
the credit risk is insured with a credit insurer. Foreign exchange positions 
are largely covered by forward exchange transactions. Some foreign 
exchange positions are also hedged using option contracts. Interest-rate 
derivatives are used to hedge interest risks.

Depository receipts
In November 2011, a bid of € 30 per receipt was made on all 70,973 
outstanding depositary receipts for shares in The Greenery’s capital 
among 1,106 members and ex-members. For more information on the 
depository receipts, please see the section on Corporate Governance. In 
principle, this bid will be valid until 15 April 2012 but may be withdrawn 
earlier. At year-end 2011, 16,078 receipts had been offered. Current 
facilities will be used to finance the purchase; 169,282 depository 
receipts were purchased at € 30 per receipt as part of an earlier 
purchasing effort in 2008.

Outlook
Coöperatie Coforta expects supply volumes to grow in 2012 with the 
arrival of new members and expansion among existing members. This 
will provide significant compensation for the members that left in 2011. 
On balance, the group’s turnover will drop. Partnerships with several 
major customers will be expanded, which will include logistics services. 
The closure of locations and continued efficiency measures will cause 
employment levels to drop slightly. Significant amounts of time and 
money will be invested in the continued rollout of the new operating 
system. Based on the above, we expect a slight increase in profitability. 
Logistics investments will be made in 2012 with the renovation of the 
Barendrecht distribution centre. Investments will also be made in the 
development of the Sweet Sensation pear. These investments will be 
mainly financed using our own cash flow but may result in a slight 
increase to bank loans.

equity capital has risen to 

€ 75.000.000

As part of the operational excellence 

key strategy, The Greenery introduced 

the LEAN methodology at all distribution 

centres in 2011. The aim of this originally 

Japanese methodology is to tackle all 

manifestations of failure costs in business 

operations. LEAN brings uniformity to 

working methods and boosts the sense 

of involvement among employees, while 

logistics objectives are converted into 

measures on the shop floor. Team meetings 

are used to discuss the problems and seek 

solutions together, as well as evaluate 

possible improvements to efficiency in the 

work process. The floor markings were 

re-done in 2011 at many production and 

packing locations. Visual standardisation 

of the space improves pedestrian safety.

Operational excellence



Local produce
A noticeable trend among consumers over the past few years in the above-mentioned 
core markets is that of an increasing preference for local produce. Although this 
development does exert pressure on Dutch exports, it certainly also offers new 
opportunities. For several years, The Greenery has been seeking out opportunities for 
cooperation with local producers in the core markets. This strategy will enable us to cater 
for the needs and wishes of customers, while also strengthening our position among 
international retailers and therefore also the position of the members of Coöperatie 
Coforta.

Initial successes in the United Kingdom and France are already evident in close 
partnerships with local growers. Our position in the United Kingdom was enhanced 
in 2011 through a partnership with an English producer of vegetable fruits: after John 
Baarda Ltd from Billingham (a member since 2010), Cornerways Nursery is the second 
English grower to join Coöperatie Coforta. The Greenery now has a significant share of the 
total volume of tomatoes in the UK.

The Greenery’s sales strategy is aimed at generating growth in turnover 

among major retailers worldwide that is at least equal to market trends, in 

the form of increased turnover rates among existing retail customers in the 

Benelux, United Kingdom, German and French core markets. Growth is also 

a priority in countries showing significant opportunities for growth, such as 

Eastern Europe, Russia and the United States. Specialist teams from the sales 

units operate in all markets, with a thorough knowledge of the relevant 

markets and products. They count all major retailers among their customers.

1.2 Commercial developments
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In 2011, The Greenery entered into a partnership with SNC Sochelau 
for the planting and sale of Sweet Sensation and Dazzling Gold on the 
French market. The Netherlands is currently the exclusive supplier of 
these varieties to the French market. 

Germany is also showing an increased demand for locally grown 
produce, a development that was given a helping hand in 2011 by the 
EHEC crisis. Many retailers compensated for the sharp drop in demand 
for vegetable fruits using German produce. Together with its growers, 
The Greenery is researching the opportunities for developing more local 
activities in Germany. 

Changing market conditions 
The Internet and social media are increasingly influential, resulting 
in rapid changes in the market affecting all supply chain operators. 
Consumers want transparency on the products they purchase, and know 
how to find information quickly and easily, anytime, anywhere. The use 
of smart phones is spreading quickly and shopping online is becoming 
more and more popular in our core market countries. Consumers also 
use social networks to share experiences or find people with similar 
interests which clearly influences their choices and shopping behaviour. 
The Greenery is ready to act with its customers to take advantage of 
these changes in the market.

Over the last few years, the retail sector has been in a position to 
benefit from growing at-home consumption. The current uncertain 
economic climate means that consumers are eating more at home and 
this has enabled supermarkets to realise growth in turnover in recent 
years. However, the retail sector has also been looking at ways to cut 
costs, where economies of scale are an important motivating factor. 
Partnerships and takeovers ensure clear consolidation within the retail 
sector and  concrete examples of these can be found in the Netherlands 
and United Kingdom. 

The Greenery is convinced that consolidation has produced the need for 
solid partners who can offer security. The Greenery, with its guaranteed 
level and constant supply of high-quality products and specific tailor-
made services, is in a prime position to cater for this need.

The Greenery has organised its sales activities into Sales units, and 
grouped them according to the following geographic areas: Benelux, 
Germany/Northern Europe, United Kingdom/Overseas, Central Europe/
Russia and Southern Europe (including France). The following page 
provides an overview of the most important developments in 2011 
within the Sales units. 

Developments in the Benelux territory
The Greenery supplies major retail customers with a wide range and 
is able to meet the rising demand for additional services, particularly 
logistics. Retail customers are exhibiting an increasing focus on 
sustainable concepts and snack concepts (such as Fred&Ed) which 
are also popular. In the Netherlands we are seeing the demand 

In 2011, The Greenery extended the Fred&Ed 

range to include mini apples and pears. The 

Greenery collaborates closely with Food 

Sense BV to encourage young people to 

adopt a healthier and more responsible diet. 

The Levensmiddelenkrant (a food-product 

trade magazine) voted Fred&Ed as the best 

introduction in the category of children’s 

products in 2011. The Greenery and Food 

Sense want to encourage children and adults 

to include fruit and vegetables as a fixed 

part of a healthy diet. Combining this healthy 

line of snacks with the popular Fred&Ed 

brand by Food Sense has made the fruit and 

vegetable snacks more appealing to children.

Extended Fred&Ed range
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for sliced vegetables stabilise after years of growth; volumes even 
decreased slightly. The increasing at-home consumption is insufficient 
to compensate for the stagnating demand for fresh fruit and vegetables 
among private households. According to market research organisation 
GfK, on average Dutch households purchased 207 kg of fresh fruit and 
vegetables in 2011, compared to 210 kg in 2010, spread across an 
average of 98 occasions.

Developments in Germany and Northern Europe
In Germany, vegetable consumption has been stable for several years. 
However, we have seen an increased demand for German products, 
causing an increase in the price difference between German and Dutch 
greenhouse vegetables. Compared to field cultivation of vegetables and 
fruit, German greenhouse produce is still limited. These price differences 
will benefit German growers in the long term and, partly in light of the 
stagnating consumption and the drop in population, may begin to exert 
pressure on Dutch exports. 

In 2011 the EHEC crisis and the poor summer weather had a major 
influence on prices and volumes of vegetable fruits and salad crops 
moving into Germany. During the summer period, The Greenery saw 
its export volumes decrease by nearly 25%. Only after the 2011 
greenhouse season was over did the export volumes and price levels 
of these products increase again. However, exports of Dutch pears into 
Germany did increase in 2011. The Greenery wishes to increase sales 
of Conference pears, and is investing in promotional campaigns in the 
German market. 

Northern Europe: Sales in Scandinavia are showing healthy growth. 
Exports of Greenery products increased and the impact of the EHEC crisis 
was minimal. The position of The Greenery in Scandinavia varies from 
country to country. In Denmark our position is traditionally good and in 
Finland in particular The Greenery has sold a wider assortment of both 
Dutch and imported products to existing customers. 

Developments in the United Kingdom and Overseas
In 2011 The Greenery in the United Kingdom entered into a closer 
partnership with large local producers Cornerways Nursery and John 
Baarda Ltd. This collaboration has enabled The Greenery to develop 
an important share in the English production of vegetable fruits and to 
broaden its position. Consumption of vegetable fruits and salad crops 
also fell in the United Kingdom due to the EHEC crisis and poor summer 
weather. This meant that local produce was sufficient which, in turn, 
affected total export volumes of Dutch products to the United Kingdom. 
The British order fresh fruit and vegetables online relatively often. In 
2011, 3.5% of consumer purchases in the London region were via the 
Internet, representing a 34% increase compared to 2009.

Overseas: Sales in North America have grown, especially of products 
from Mexico and Canada. The Greenery opened its new distribution 
centre in New Jersey in 2011, substantially expanding and optimising its 
storage and processing capacity. The layout of the distribution centre was 

Conference Pear campaign

Market analysis has shown that German 

consumers do not spontaneously mention 

the Conference variety when asked to name 

pear varieties. The Greenery has developed 

the ‘2inOne’ campaign in order to show 

German consumers how versatile pears can 

be. There are pears for consumers who like 

a refreshing taste and a solid bite, as well 

as for those who prefer a sweeter, juicier 

pear. The campaign enjoys clear in-store 

visibility and gives German consumers the 

right information on Conference pears, 

for example on proper storage, etc.
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based on the most stringent international food safety requirements and 
quality standards. 

In Japan, demand for European vegetables has fallen in recent years 
due to an increase in local production and factors that limit trade, such 
as phytosanitary restrictions. However, the rise of the Yen against the 
Euro and a drop in exports from South Korea led to more Dutch peppers 
being exported to Japan in 2011. The Greenery serves customers in the 
premium retail and hotel and restaurant sectors in the Far East. Given 
the development of purchasing power, Asia remains a market with high 
growth potential. Nevertheless it is true that in some countries, such as 
China, phytosanitary barriers are an issue.

Developments in Central Europe and Russia
Central Europe and Russia show a clear upward trend in both the 
volume and frequency of consumer supermarket purchases. This trend is 
evidence that the region offers huge growth potential for The Greenery. 
The Greenery managed to strengthen its position in 2011 by cementing 
agreements with various new customers. However, sales to Russia were 
lower than in 2010, a main cause of which was the extended closure 
of the Russian market to Dutch imports due to the EHEC crisis. The 
Greenery expects further recovery of sales to Russia during 2012. Exports 
to Belarus were absent for much of the year, as purchasing of foreign 
currency was not possible in the country.

Developments in Southern Europe
Due to its high consumption, France is one of the largest fruit, vegetable 
and mushroom markets in Europe. The Greenery supplies its customers 
with a wide range, which also includes winter vegetables. France is the 
leader in ordering groceries online for collection later, a development 
for which there is international demand. In 2011, The Greenery entered 
into a partnership with a French producer for the cultivation of Sweet 
Sensation pears, taking advantage of the demand for local produce.
 
Within a short space of time, Italy has developed into a second major 
market in southern Europe. The export volumes of Dutch greenhouse 
vegetables to Italy are now almost equal with those to France. The 
Greenery was one of the pioneers in the Italian vine tomato market, 
with several strong trademarks. Last year, this position was threatened 
by new arrivals to the market. The purchase of fresh vegetables in Italy 
has also been dropping for years due to changing dietary and cooking 
habits – speed and convenience are also becoming more important in 
Italy. The sector is responding well to this development, by introducing 
more and more innovative concepts in the areas of sliced fruit and 
vegetables and ready-to-eat products.

New packaging

New forms of packaging can contribute to 

greater convenience or increased shelf life 

of a product. In 2011 stand-up packaging 

was developed for green asparagus. This 

prevents bending and offers increased 

water resistance. For cherry exports, new 

packaging was created in the form of a 

special plastic storage bag that maintains 

quality. The Greenery also used 2011 to step 

up the inclusion of QR codes on packaging.



Closer to the market
Growers are expressing a desire to operate increasingly closer to the market, while 
retailers wish to deal directly with the source. Together with its growers, The Greenery 
has all the necessary expertise to serve these needs. In 2011 it was expressly decided 
to further intensify cooperation with its growers towards the market. Drawing on market 
figures and expertise and in consultation with growers, specific product plans have been 
drawn up with the sales opportunities for each relevant product. At The Greenery, grower 
involvement concerning developments within the market is standard, with transparency 
and openness being key aspects. 

Here is an overview of the most important developments of 2011 within the six product 
units:

Top fruit
One of the main thrusts of The Greenery’s top fruit strategy concerns the continued 
expansion of exclusive club varieties, such as the Sweet Sensation pear, Rubens/Junami/
Wellant apples and new concepts such as the Fred&Ed mini-apples and pears that were 
introduced in 2011. The market for club varieties grew considerably in 2011. Nearly eight 
million kilos of the three Rubens, Junami and Wellant apple varieties were offered in 

1.3 Developments in Product Units

In 2011, the commercial division was simplified and six product units were 

formed: Soft Fruit, Top Fruit, Mushrooms, Field Produce, Vegetable Fruits and 

Imports. These product units bear integral responsibility for the commercial 

results and grower prices, generating greater commercial leverage and 

improving coordination between the various operational units. Product 

specialists and sales staff from The Greenery work together with growers 

within each product unit.
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2011, together with almost one million kilos of Sweet Sensation pears. 
New international partnerships in France, South Africa and Argentina 
mean that in the future The Greenery will be able to offer Sweet 
Sensation and Dazzling Gold pears all year round and respond to the 
increasing demand for local produce in France’s core market. A second 
focus area within the top fruit strategy concerns improved efficiency 
thanks to centralised cooling and sorting at grower organisations, 
and linking grower clusters to regular customers. As part of these 
improvements, packing stations have been set up in each region. 
Cooperation between the top fruit product unit and subsidiary company 
Jover was stepped up considerably in 2011. Top fruit from The Greenery 
is sold to the biggest supermarket chains both in Europe and beyond, 
with the most important markets being The Netherlands, Germany, the 
UK, Scandinavia, France and Russia.

Focus areas for 2012 include: increasing supply-chain integration by 
linking more customers to regular growers or packing stations and 
enhancing commercial leverage through the planned integration of Jover.

Soft fruit
In 2011, soft-fruit volumes increased slightly due to growth among 
Coöperatie Coforta members. Blueberry, raspberry and blackberry 
volumes rose by over 30% and cherry volumes by at least 300%. The 
Greenery’s strawberry growers are showing a move towards greenhouse 
cultivation. The Greenery is responding to developments in the market 
by means of its varieties programme, such as the selection in 2011 
of various promising new varieties of a range of fruits that will be 
introduced over the next few years. These exclusive varieties cater more 
effectively for consumer and customer preferences in terms of taste, 
shelf life and quality. The new varieties also benefit growers in terms of 
cultivation techniques. 

Import activities were successfully integrated into the soft fruit product 
unit in 2011, enabling optimum coordination of the available range. 
The most important markets for soft fruit are the Netherlands, the UK, 
Germany, Scandinavia and Southern Europe. 

Focus areas for 2012 include: a proactive approach in the market, the 
continued development of the varieties programme and keeping supply 
chain costs to a minimum. Given the growth of production in the 
Netherlands, Germany and Belgium on the one hand, and the increasing 
consolidation of retailers on the other, supply chain bundling will remain key.

Mushrooms
2011 was a difficult year for the mushroom sector. Poland remains a 
tough competitor and local produce, in particular, grew in importance 
in 2011 among retail customers in England, Germany and France. The 
Mushrooms product unit worked successfully throughout 2011 on the 
new SAP software system, contributing to additional improvements 
to efficiency. From its mushroom centre in Zaltbommel, The Greenery 
supplies customers mainly in the Netherlands and United Kingdom.

Chicory campaign: 
the ‘Chicory 10’

2011 saw the launch of the ‘Chicory 10’ 

campaign in close collaboration with growers. 

A product business plan that included an 

analysis of chicory sales has revealed that 

young Dutch people eat very little chicory 

nowadays. To maintain our good position in 

the Netherlands, The Greenery began a media 

campaign with the aim of introducing the 

future generation to chicory. The Greenery 

growers with a significant joint market share 

in the product range in the Netherlands 

made the conscious decision to invest in this 

generic chicory campaign. ‘Various studies 

have shown a clear drop in consumption’, 

says chicory grower Ko van Rossum, who 

participated in developing the campaign. 

‘Chicory needed to be put back on the map, 

both literally and figuratively, and that is what 

we achieved in 2011. It’s a good thing.’



22

Focus areas for 2012 include: enhancing a healthy international customer 
portfolio and optimisation of the logistics chain (product and packaging 
flows) for different customer types. 

Vegetable fruits
The EHEC crisis overshadowed the vegetable fruits sector for much of 
2011. The EHEC bacterial outbreak in Germany had a massive effect on 
consumer purchasing behaviour, particularly with regard to cucumbers, 
tomatoes, bell peppers and various salad crops. Not only did exports of 
these products to Germany drop but sales also fell in England and the 
Netherlands. Over two-thirds of Dutch-grown vegetable fruits are sent to 
Germany, the UK and the Netherlands. Russia also closed its borders to 
Dutch products, and the absence of demand in one of the Netherlands’ 
biggest markets resulted in a product surplus. The poor summer in 
North West Europe also had a strong effect on consumption, prolonging 
the imbalance between supply and demand and putting prices under 
considerable pressure for some time from late May onwards. Thanks to 
its international economies of scale, The Greenery still managed to sell 
some of this product during these difficult market conditions in countries 
and areas other than those mentioned above, such as Eastern Europe 
and Scandinavia.

On 1 January 2012 The Greenery’s vegetable fruits acreage was 
expanded by a total of 71 hectares of tomatoes and cucumbers (54 
hectares in the Netherlands and 17 hectares in the United Kingdom). 
With this expansion, the total acreage allocated to Greenery tomatoes 
will come to over 350 hectares. This growth is in line with the targets set 
out together with the growers in the Product Business Plan.

Focus areas for 2012 include: investing in concepts and product 
innovation, keeping supply chain costs to a minimum and sharing our 
market knowledge with our own growers. 

Field produce
In 2011, the Field Produce product unit concentrated primarily on the 
continued reduction of logistics costs, generating benefits by creating 
more direct links between growers and customers. The products are 
now shipped directly from the grower, shortening the supply chain and 
realising cost savings and improving the quality of in-store produce. The 
biggest markets for field produce are in the Netherlands, Belgium and 
Russia. In 2011, the EHEC crisis also impacted salad crop sales. This drop 
in demand in The Greenery’s core market countries put prices under a 
lot of pressure, leaving salad crop growers looking back on a difficult 
year. By contrast, the demand for cooking vegetables was relatively 
high, partly due to the poor summer weather. In autumn, however, the 
prices for field produce were often disappointing, with the mild autumn 
conditions affecting leek and sprouts in particular.

Focus areas for 2012 include: growth in export opportunities, continued 
optimisation of coordination between the Dutch and the import seasons 
and extending variety programmes incorporating a strong focus on 

Sector-wide approach

The EHEC crisis has generated a 

sector-wide response. The Greenery 

was a part of the national crisis team, 

along with such influential sector 

organisations as the Commodity 

Board for Horticulture, the Dutch 

Produce Association and FrugiVenta. 

A joint response to the government 

took the form of a fully-developed 

emergency fund. Communication 

was organised and coordinated 

centrally. A grower-intervention 

scheme was drawn up jointly which 

compensated growers for some of 

the losses they suffered due to the 

EHEC-outbreak. The Greenery was 

able to make an arrangement for its 

growers: a financial advance on the 

payments due under the European 

Union intervention scheme.
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Naturelle, naturally!

The Greenery supplies a comprehensive range 

of organic fruit, vegetables and mushrooms. 

The ‘Naturelle’ organic range experienced 

growth in export volumes in 2011, especially 

to the Scandinavian market. Direct retail 

contacts in England were also strengthened 

and the domestic market continued to 

contribute significantly to sales. The number 

of organic growers who are members of 

Coöperatie Coforta and sell via Naturelle 

has increased. Naturelle is also set to enter 

international partnerships with growers as 

a response to the increasing demand for 

local produce. Naturelle further expanded 

its range in 2011 to include cress, limes and 

organically-grown Fairtrade mangos and 

avocados. Naturelle is the exclusive supplier 

of fruit and vegetables under the Bio+ label.

better-tasting varieties instead of those with a high production rate per 
square metre.

Imports
Under the name Hagé International, The Greenery offers its customers 
a wide range of import products to supplement the product range 
of Coöperatie Coforta members. Sales of import products to Poland 
and Germany rose significantly in 2011; other important markets for 
import products are the Netherlands and the UK. Sales of products from 
overseas, such as citrus and sweet potatoes, were particularly good in 
2011. The Imports product unit also expanded the range of Fair Trade 
products, including legumes. The Greenery joined the Business Social 
Compliance Initiative (BSCI) for its import products on 1 January 2012. 
The goal of the BSCI is to improve the working conditions of employees 
in consumer goods companies in risk countries.

Focus areas for 2012 include: the implementation of BSCI and detailed 
coordination of the range and programmes between import products 
and Dutch production. 



Harvesting on demand
More and more links are being forged between customers and growers, who now 
‘harvest on demand’, allowing them to meet each customer’s needs in a targeted 
fashion. The Greenery guarantees product quality by carrying out inspections at growers’ 
premises and monitoring activities. The short supply chain results in shorter lead times, 
prevents unnecessary product transport, cuts costs and ensures that products reach stores 
as fresh as possible. 

Preferred supplier
In 2011, The Greenery entered into an intensive partnership with one of its Dutch retail 
customers in order to generate more efficient logistics. As the preferred supplier for fruit 
and vegetables, The Greenery arranges delivery of the entire range of fruit, vegetables 
and potatoes right up to the customer’s distribution centre. Joint objectives have been 
formulated under this partnership, such as increased performance, increased in-store 
product quality and fewer losses. The willingness of both parties to share their knowledge 
has enabled further optimisation of the supply chain, as well as a more effective 
response to the needs of the end customer – consumers.

Exclusive varieties
Innovation in varieties and concepts is an important instrument in the realisation of 

1.4 Added Value

Supplying customers with added value is one of the major thrusts of our 

strategy, which in turn gives customers the opportunity to better profile 

themselves within the market. This added value is provided in the form of 

product knowledge, logistics solutions, product development, food safety and 

sustainability, and marketing.
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product improvement and broadening the product range. The Greenery 
therefore regularly invests in the expertise of its own product teams 
and collaborates closely with growers, seed-enhancement companies 
and research institutes both in the Netherlands and abroad on the 
development of new varieties. In almost all cases, The Greenery 
concludes an exclusive agreement with the seed-enhancement company 
covering the introduction of the new product to the market. These 
exclusive varieties are a good alternative to the free varieties, offering 
growers a greater likelihood of increased profits and The Greenery’s 
customers opportunities to stand out in the market in which they 
operate.

The Greenery once again invested in variety programmes in 2011. The 
exclusive varieties are slowly but surely gaining ground; the Sweet 
Sensation pear, for example, has been successfully incorporated into 
the product range of the major retailers. This relatively young pear 
variety will be available in greater volumes in 2012. The new Brilliance 
raspberry variety, grown in the Benelux territory exclusively by Greenery 
growers, is valued for its fine taste and long shelf life.

The Greenery created a new and flavoursome pear in 2011 with an 
all-over golden colour, which will be available on the market in small 
volumes in 2012 under the name ‘Dazzling Gold’. One of its important 
distinguishing characteristics is its shelf life, and in taste tests it received 
an exceptionally high score.

In 2011, The Greenery also brought Lazoet plums onto the market. 
Lazoet is the trademark name for four new plum varieties that exhibit 
strong similarities in terms of shape, colour, taste and shelf life. 
Opting for these four blue plums enables Lazoet to be delivered for an 
uninterrupted ten-week period. The Greenery has exclusive rights to 
grow and market these varieties.

The Greenery entered into an exclusive partnership with Syngenta in 
2011 for the production and marketing of Angello Seedless peppers and 
Romanella plum tomatoes in North Western Europe. The development of 
these new varieties took place in 2011 and the products were introduced 
in 2012.

Effective communication and marketing activities 
The Greenery encourages growers, customers and consumers to make 
healthy choices. Communication plays an important part in that respect. 
Consumers are becoming more and more conscious of a healthy diet 
and want to know more about the origins of their products. Much 
effort was therefore spent on the website www.verseoogst.nl (Fresh 
Harvest), which was revamped in 2011 and aims to tell consumers all 
they need to know about fruit and vegetables, offering them recipes and 
introducing them to growers and their companies. The objective is for 
consumers to see Fresh Harvest as a reliable source of information and 
to convince them that products they purchase from Greenery growers 
are healthy and cultivated with love and expertise.

The Sweet Sensation pear is a club variety, 

which means that all stakeholders involved 

in the variety work together according to 

strict rules in terms of production, quality 

assurance, marketing and communication, 

in order to generate added value for all 

links in the supply chain. Other examples 

include Junami and Dazzling Gold.



The fruit and vegetable department plays an important role when it 
comes to retailer positioning. Each retailer applies a different approach. 
The Greenery has extensive knowledge and experience in the field 
of category management and display techniques among the various 
retailers. The Greenery advises customers on their display layout and the 
in-store presentation of vegetables, fruit and potatoes, and introduces 
new concepts based on consumer research and data analysis. The 
selected approach involves the entire supply chain, with growers and 
customers also participating in the projects. The Greenery can provide 
tailor-made solutions to every requirement by customising its services to 
the customer’s specific wishes. Our marketing knowledge was also put to 
use in 2011 as part of various sales and promotional campaigns located 
in-store, online and at international trade fairs. Examples include the 
chicory campaign and the ‘Sicher Geniessen’ activities following the EHEC 
crisis in Germany.
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Fresh Harvest

Fresh Harvest (Verse Oogst) is an interactive 

online information platform for vegetables, 

fruit and mushrooms, and functions as a 

link between consumers and growers of 

The Greenery. Since its launch in 2010, the 

number of visitors to www.verseoogst.nl has 

grown to 7,800 per month or nearly 60,000 

over the last year. At year-end 2011, the 

website included nearly 200 presentations 

by growers. Hundreds of fans on Facebook 

and many hundreds of followers on Twitter 

give a strong impetus for The Greenery to 

continue making use of what the website 

has to offer. The platform focuses on offering 

information (on products), inspiration 

(recipes), motivation (on health) and 

confidence (from growers and nutritionists).
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Logistics vision
The Greenery’s logistics vision concentrates on keeping the fresh-produce supply chain 
from producer to consumer as short and efficient possible. The goal has been set to 
realise considerable savings in the logistics area by 2013. This means that in the future, 
the logistics network will be making increased use of the larger grower locations where 
products can be loaded ‘straight from the garden’. This will help to reduce the floor space 
required in the distribution centres, while The Greenery will continue to process the same 
or greater volumes.

As part of the roll-out of the logistics vision, the Maasland site was closed in 2011 and 
the distribution centre’s activities and infrastructure were successfully integrated into 
the Bleiswijk centre, while maintaining the IFS, BRC and QS certifications. The plan is to 
close the Venlo site in 2012 and to transfer these activities to the distribution centres in 
Barendrecht and Bleiswijk, which will enable The Greenery to realise further reductions in 
logistics costs.

The second major focus in The Greenery’s strategy concerns operational 

excellence, aimed at making our work as efficient and cost-effective as 

possible. To achieve this, various projects are being carried out under the 

banner of ‘Working Smarter and Better’ that relate to more effective logistics, 

packaging activities, distribution and supply chain management. In this 

manner, The Greenery can provide its customers with reliable service at 

competitive rates.

1.5 Operational excellence



2008

33,0%
2009

35,2%
2010

37,2%
2011

43,8%

Implementation of SAP software
In 2011, a lot of work went into the implementation of SAP at Greenery 
Benelux. Following Zaltbommel’s example, this is the second site where 
the new software system has been successfully implemented. The SAP 
system contributes to the effective management of the entire supply 
chain and the optimisation of logistics. Improving the efficiency of 
business processes and product flows results in cost savings throughout 
the supply chain, while also helping to increase delivery reliability. All 
parties in the supply chain can now be effortlessly kept up-to-date on 
changes to delivery times and to product quality. We anticipate that the 
SAP system will be in use company-wide by the first half of 2013.
 
Supply chain management
The Greenery maintains a strong focus on keeping the supply chain 
as efficient as possible. In 2011, the number of direct shipments from 
growers increased by 6% and the number of transport movements 
between sites dropped considerably. These supply chain management 
measures have contributed to a 22% drop in transport.

2008

33,0%
2009

35,2%
2010

37,2%
2011

43,8%

Percentage of direct shipments 
from Greenery growers’ 

production sites to customers, 
relative to the total Dutch volume 

delivered by The Greenery:
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Nature Counts
The Greenery regularly shares its expertise in the field of Healthy cultivation with its 
suppliers and takes a proactive stance in further reducing the use of crop protection 
agents. The company is continually in search of the right balance between what is 
possible in the field of cultivation and customer demand. The Greenery acknowledges 
the efforts of its growers in the field of sustainability through Nature Counts, based 
on the central themes of energy consumption, crop protection, nature and landscape, 
transparency, waste, water and employees. In 2011, the Nature Counts label was 
awarded to 11 grower organisations, bringing the total number of growers to 14. The 
Nature Counts label is a testament to the position of these growers as leaders in the field 
of sustainability. The Greenery’s objective with the Nature Counts label is to encourage 
growers to step up their efforts in making cultivation of fresh fruit, vegetables and 
mushrooms more sustainable. For more information, see www.naturecounts.com. 

Sustainability remained high on The Greenery’s agenda throughout 2011, 

with a continuation of the earlier sustainability strategy ‘Healthy is More’. 

The programme’s objectives and initiatives are spread across six focus 

areas: Healthy cultivation, Healthy innovation, Healthy variation, Healthy 

communication, Healthy business operations and Healthy employees. 

Consumers must feel confident that their fruit and vegetables always meet 

the highest quality standards, that products are safe and that the journey from 

harvest to store shelf is made in an efficient and responsible manner.

1.6 Sustainability



Product origins
The Greenery acts according to the General Food Law, the essence of 
which prescribes that it must be possible to state within four hours 
which supplier grew a particular product and to which customers 
it was delivered. Far-reaching standardisation and technological 
innovations offer the right opportunities for ease of traceability and 
for communicating more supply-chain information from producers to 
consumers. The EHEC crisis once again highlighted the importance of 
communication on production methods and product origins, an aspect 
that The Greenery has been working on since 2010 via the Verse Oogst 
(Fresh Harvest) growers’ platform.

Social sustainability
The Greenery has committed itself to further expansion of its 
sustainability policy, an important aspect of which is social sustainability. 
Social sustainability is concerned with safe and healthy working 
conditions, fair salaries for all, social security and union rights – issues 
that are important to employees across the world. On 1 January 
2012, the Greenery therefore joined the Business Social Compliance 
Initiative (BSCI) for its import products. This instrument enables visible 
improvements to be made concerning working conditions throughout 
the supply chain. The Greenery ensures that its suppliers respect social 
sustainability.

The Greenery intends to sign the declaration for the Sustainable Business 
Initiative (Initiatief Duurzame Handel, IDH) in 2012, as part of which 
the public and private sectors work in close conjunction to improve 
sustainability in import channels. Social sustainability is a major focus 
within this initiative. The core of the agreement is the goal set by 
retailers and trading companies to achieve 100% sustainability for all 
fruit and vegetables imported from Latin America, Africa and Asia by 
2020.

Lean & Green
In 2011, the Lean & Green Award was presented to The Greenery. 
Lean & Green is an incentive programme set up by the Ministry 
of Infrastructure and the Environment, whose aim is to encourage 
companies to take measures that not only increase efficiency but are 
also more environmentally friendly. The Greenery credits the award to 
the ‘Sustainable Logistics’ business plan that sets out the organisation’s 
concrete CO2 targets for 2009-2013 and determines the KPIs (Key 
Performance Indicators). These KPIs should eventually result in a CO2 
emission reduction of at least 25% per kilogram of each product sold 
over a period of five years. In early 2012 The Greenery confirmed that it 
is already well on the way to achieving this target.

The Greenery publishes an annual 

Sustainability Report describing its 

efforts in the field of corporate social 

responsibility. www.thegreenery.com
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1.7 Outlook 2012

The Management and the Management Board expect the demand for vegetables, fruit 
and mushrooms to stabilise across Europe in 2012 and also that there will be sufficient 
European supply, resulting in continued competition both at the supplier side and among 
the major retailers. 

In 2012, The Greenery will continue with the intensive implementation of its strategy 
aimed at providing added value and promoting operational excellence. A key focus here 
is the provision of a tailored service to customers through intensive collaboration with 
members of the Cooperative, both in the Netherlands and in the major export markets. 
The Greenery will also continue to work on its logistics vision to further improve efficiency 
in the producer-customer chain, while keeping the efficiency measures under the 
Smarter & Better programme as a major focus area. This will include the Greenery-wide 
implementation of the SAP automation system, among other things.

The Greenery will develop its international sourcing strategy in 2012 and intensify its 
cooperation with local producers within its major sales markets. The introduction of new 
products and concepts contributing to added value for all stakeholders will remain a 
focus area. The Greenery will also devote greater attention to communication towards 
consumers, and further expand its sustainability policy. Signing the Sustainable Business 
Initiative (Initiatief Duurzame Handel, IDH) will constitute an important step in this 
respect.

As a result of the closure of the distribution centre in Venlo (announced in 2011), the 
number of employees in the Netherlands will decrease. Investments have already been 
set aside for the further Greenery-wide implementation of the SAP automation system 
mentioned above.



 Petro Vogel 
 Site Manager, Zaltbommel

‘ The team board   
 meetings mean 
 that I can get all
  employees from   
 every department
  involved in the 
 day-to-day 
 improvement of 
 quality and 
 processes.’
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In early 2011, the results of the grower satisfaction survey carried out in late 2010 
were presented. The study showed that general satisfaction among Coöperatie Coforta
members has increased. The results of the study also contain a number of 
recommendations that have been discussed with the Management Board, the 
Management and The Greenery’s product units, who have considered and incorporated 
them into the plans for 2011.

In 2011, Coöperatie Coforta remained focused on its chosen strategy. The Cooperative 
aims to generate added value for its members through results-oriented retail and 
wholesale marketing and by ensuring a good grower price.

The rates and levies of the cooperation decreased slightly in 2011, suggesting improved 
control of the costs within the organisation.

Member-base developments
Each year, growers have the option to register or deregister, or to review their supply 
relationship within Coöperatie Coforta. A group of members whose products were sold 
to the Dutch wholesale sector by Coforta Verkoop B.V. cancelled their membership as of 
1 January 2012. These were growers in the bell pepper, tomato, cucumber and eggplant 
segments, with a combined estimated turnover of € 216 million in 2011. The cancellation 
was the outcome of an extended and intensive process of mutual negotiations and 
coordination among growers, management, the Management Board and the Supervisory 
Board, which did not end in agreement. The commercial position of The Greenery as a 
sales organisation and product availability will remain unchanged.

The Cooperative welcomed a considerable number of new members in 2011 who express 
their confidence in the Cooperative itself and The Greenery as a sales organisation. The 
new group also includes international members, from the United Kingdom and France. 
The Cooperative introduced foreign membership in 2007, enabling it to forge partnerships 

In 2011 the Cooperative’s member turnover decreased slightly, as did 

the number of members. Average acreage per member increased. On 31 

December 2011, 1,450 natural persons and legal entities were members of 

the Cooperative. These members represent 885 member businesses.

Report by the 
Management Board of
Coöperatie Coforta U.A. 

2.

 Gerard Kole
 Project Manager, 

 Zaltbommel Sourcing

‘The team board 
 meetings enable us
 to better control
  on-site product
  streams as a team,
  thereby improving
  service to our 
 customers.’
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with producers from the core markets in which The Greenery operates. 
The growth in new members has increased the total acreage of 
Greenery growers, strengthening The Greenery’s market position.  

Commitment
In Cooperatives such as Coforta, the commitment of, and communication 
with, members is crucial. In 2011, the Management Board adopted 
a communication plan that places a greater focus on knowledge 
exchange and the increased application of communication resources and 
meetings. In this context, 2011 saw the launch of the Green Academy: 
an organised series of seminars involving expert speakers, followed by 
discussions. In 2011 the seminars were devoted to the topics of social 
media and market orientation. There was also a range of activities 
organised for members, such as the Coforta Day and Product Seminars. 

The Members’ Council met three times during the year under review; 
the Management Board met once a month. Among other topics, the 
following matters were discussed during the meetings:
-  The 2010 financial statements
-  The 2011 strategic plan
-  The new cooperation model
-  GMO Annual Plan
-  Amendments to the Articles of Association and regulations 2011 
-  Tariffs and Levies
-  Member communication
-  Procedures of The Greenery product units and segments of Coforta   
 Verkoop BV
- Founding of Inova Fruit Verkoop BV
-  Intervention regulations concerning the EHEC crisis
-  Visits to grower meetings, various business units and Product   
 Recommendations Committees.

Appointments and retirements
During the Members’ Council meeting on 29 March 2011, Mr T. 
Ammerlaan was reappointed as chairman of the Cooperative. On 1 
October 2011, Mr J. van der Voort retired as a Coöperatie Coforta
Management Board Member due to cancellation of his membership. 
The vacancy will be filled by another vegetable fruit grower, as this 
represents the turnover ratios within the Cooperative as at 1 January 
2012. During the Members’ Council meeting on 13 December 2011, Mr 
L. Zwinkels and Mr J. van den Elzen retired as members of the Disputes 
Committee. Due to the takeover of their businesses and the related 
cancellation of their memberships, they can no longer be re-elected.

Annual Report and financial statements
The Cooperative’s Annual Report and consolidated financial statements 
incorporating.
The Greenery B.V.’s financial statements were prepared under the 
responsibility of the Management Board. The financial statements were 
audited by Deloitte Accountants B.V., who issued an unqualified audit 
opinion. The financial statements will be submitted to the Members’ 
Council for consideration and adoption. Our proposal to the Members’ 
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A Youth Council has been formed of 

representatives from each department. 

The Youth Council will give its view on 

the developments within the company 

and the Cooperative, and also serve 

as a training ground for management 

talent. Various meetings were held in 

2011 covering four main topics: GMO, 

marketing, local-for-local and social media. 

Each meeting involved a presentation 

by an expert, followed by discussion.

Youth Council

Council is to adopt the financial statements and grant the Management 
Board discharge from liability in respect of the policy it has conducted 
during the review year.

Bleiswijk, 7 March 2012
The Management Board of Coöperatie Coforta U.A.



 Anton Maris  
 Account Manager, Retail

‘ Purchasers and 
 sellers work 
 together closely, 
 so that customers 
 of import products 
 are served by 
 a single team of
 specialists.’
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Members, divisions and Members’ Council of the Cooperative
The Cooperative has 1,450 members, all of whom are fruit, vegetable and mushroom 
growers. The members are divided into four regional divisions each having their 
own divisional management that is elected during divisional meetings attended by 
the division’s members. The divisional management members jointly form the 
Members’ Council. 

The Members’ Council handles various matters, such as the adoption of the Cooperative’s 
financial statements, granting the Cooperative’s Management Board discharge from 
liability in respect of the performance of its duties, amendments to the Cooperative’s 
Articles of Association and regulations, setting tariffs and levies and appointing members 
to the Cooperative’s Management Board. In addition, the Members’ Council is consulted 
on Management Board resolutions relating to exercising voting rights attached to the 
shares held by the Cooperative in the capital of The Greenery B.V. to the extent this 
concerns the adoption of the financial statements and approval of The Greenery’s 
strategic business plan and budget plan. It is compulsory for the Management Board to 
follow the Council’s resolution until it is either finalised or approved or not.

Management Board of the Cooperative
The Members’ Council appoints the Cooperative’s Management Board, which had five 
members at the close of 2011, all members of the Cooperative. The composition of 
the Management Board reflects the best possible mix of representatives from the 
Cooperative’s membership based on regions and product groups. The Board is responsible 
for serving the interests of the Cooperative’s members and the business conducted by the 
Cooperative through The Greenery and its subsidiaries.

General Meeting of Shareholders of The Greenery
The company has issued Class A shares and cumulative Class B preference shares. All 
Class A and B shares are held by the Cooperative, which means that the Cooperative 

Coöperatie Coforta U.A. has transferred its business to a separate company 

with limited liability under the name The Greenery B.V. The Management 

Board of these two legal entities and supervision thereof is organised as 

described below.

Corporate Governance3.

 Hans de Waard 
 Purchaser/Seller, 

 Sourcing Import

‘ We think like 
 consumers and 
 communicate these 
 thoughts to our 
 growers, thereby
 generating unique
 partnerships with
 our customers.’
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has complete control at the General Meeting of Shareholders of The 
Greenery. During a General Meeting of Shareholders, the Management 
Board of the Cooperative exercises the voting rights attached to the 
shares on behalf of the Cooperative.

The Cooperative has issued depositary receipts for cumulative Class 
B preference shares without the cooperation of The Greenery. The 
Cooperative serves as a trust office for these depositary receipts. 
The Cooperative’s Management Board also acts as the trust office’s 
Management Board. Holders of depositary receipts are not vested with 
the rights accorded by law to holders of depositary receipts that have 
been issued with the cooperation of a company.

Each year prior to The Greenery’s annual meeting, acting in its capacity 
as trust office the Cooperative convenes a meeting of depositary 
receipt holders. During this meeting, the depositary receipt holders are 
informed and, in turn, hear about the resolutions to be passed relating 
to the adoption of The Greenery’s financial statements as well as profit 
appropriation. In addition, the trust office provides an account of its 
activities during the financial year.

In the company’s General Meeting, matters handled include the adoption 
of The Greenery’s financial statements and granting The Greenery’s 
management discharge from liability in respect of the performance 
of its duties. In addition, General Meeting approval is required for 
certain resolutions adopted by The Greenery’s General Management 
as described in the company’s Articles of Association, for example the 
adoption of the strategic business plan and budget plan.

General Management of The Greenery
Under the Articles of Association, the General Management, which 
in 2011 comprised a general manager and a financial manager, is 
responsible for managing The Greenery. This includes formulating 
strategy and policy as well as defining and achieving The Greenery’s 
objectives. General Management is accountable to the Supervisory Board 
and to the General Meeting of Shareholders. 

The two General Management members have been appointed by the 
Supervisory Board for an indefinite period of time. The Supervisory Board 
determines the remuneration and other terms of employment for the 
General Management members in accordance with the remuneration 
policy approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Supervisory Board of The Greenery
The Supervisory Board supervises the policy pursued by the General 
Management as well as the general developments in The Greenery 
and its business. The Greenery is subject to a statutory two-tier regime, 
which means that the Supervisory Board has been accorded the powers 
specified in Book 2, Title 5, Part 6 of the Dutch Civil Code, including 
the appointment of General Management and the approval of General 
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Management resolutions defined by law. Furthermore, certain General 
Management resolutions defined in the Articles of Association require 
prior Supervisory Board approval. 

At year-end 2011, the Supervisory Board comprised eight members. 
These are the members of the Cooperative’s Management Board 
and three Supervisory Board members who are not members of 
the Cooperative. The Greenery’s Articles of Association incorporate a 
derogation from law of the Supervisory Board appointments procedure 
for two-tier board companies in that the Supervisory Board is appointed 
by co-optation. A covenant has been concluded with the Works Council 
containing agreements on the composition of the Supervisory Board, 
the recommendation rights of the Works Council and the appointment of 
members of the Supervisory Board. 

The Supervisory Board established a Selection and an Audit Committee 
from among its members.

Corporate Governance Code
Although the Dutch Corporate Governance Code does not directly apply 
to The Greenery, the company endorses the Code’s basic principles and 
does indeed act in the spirit of the Code. However, the basic principle 
at all times remains the private limited and cooperative nature of The 
Greenery, with the associated influence of its members.

Administrative Bodies 
The Management Board of Coöperatie Coforta U.A.
T.L.J. Ammerlaan, Chairman
P.W.J.M. van Asseldonk (Vice Chairman)
B.J. Feijtel
A.W.G.M. Hop
P.S.C. Oostveen
J.C.M. van der Voort (until 1 October 2011)

The Greenery B.V. Supervisory Board
P.J.J.M. Swinkels, Chairman
T.L.J. Ammerlaan, Vice Chairman
P.W.J.M. van Asseldonk
B. de Lange (until 30 March 2011)
G.J. Beijer
B.J. Feijtel
A.W.G.M. Hop
P.S.C. Oostveen
J.C.M. van der Voort (until 1 October 2011)
A. Vos (effective 30 March 2011)

The Greenery B.V. General Management
P.R.J. Smits, General Manager
A.W. Knol, Financial Manager
B. Merkus, Commercial Manager (effective 9 January 2012)



 Theo van Noord 
 Tomato grower

‘ The Nature Counts 
 label means a lot. 
 It identifies you 
 as a preferred 
 supplier to 
 retailers.’
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 Suzanne van der Pijll
 Assessment Panel Member,  

 Nature Counts

‘ Van Noord Tomatoes 
 does justice to the  
 Nature Counts label.  
 The company’s
 focus on resilient 
 cultivation, with 
 special attention to 
 the root system, is 
 very special.’

At its meeting of 7 March 2012 the Supervisory Board discussed The 

Greenery’s 2011 Annual Report, including the financial statements for 2011 

consisting of the balance sheet as at 31 December 2011, the profit and loss 

account for the 2011 financial year and the relevant notes.

The financial statements were audited by Deloitte Accountants B.V., who issued an 
unqualified audit opinion. The Supervisory Board members and General Management 
signed the financial statements by way of endorsing the Annual Report incorporating 
the financial statements. The Supervisory Board also granted its approval to the account 
appropriation proposal presented by General Management. The financial statements were 
submitted to the General Meeting of Shareholders for consideration and adoption. The 
Supervisory Board proposed that the General Meeting of Shareholders adopt the financial 
statements, agree to the intended account appropriation and grant General Management 
discharge from liability in respect of the policy conducted over the financial year as well 
as the Supervisory Board for the supervision it has carried out in this regard.

Supervision and advice
The Supervisory Board met on eight occasions in the 2011 financial year. During these 
meetings, time was spent discussing The Greenery’s financial results, financing of The 
Greenery, an investment in Brazil and the consequences of the EHEC crisis, among 
other topics. The Board also examined the developments within the Cooperative, and 
discussed the consequences of the cooperation model for members, the business and 
the Cooperative. Consultations also took place with grower representatives from various 
segments of the Cooperative. In addition to the regular meetings, a session spread over 
several days was held to discuss The Greenery’s strategy.

In 2011 the Supervisory Board Audit Committee comprised Messrs B.J. de Lange (until 
30 March; Chairman), A. Vos (effective 30 March; Chairman), P.J.J.M. Swinkels, T.L.J. 
Ammerlaan and P.S.C. Oostveen. The Audit Committee met three times in the year under 
review in order to prepare for decision-making on the part of the Supervisory Board with 
regard to, among other things, The Greenery’s Annual Report and financial statements 
as well as the associated auditing activity. The accountant’s work was evaluated and the 
structure of the 2011 audit was prepared. Furthermore, the Audit Committee discussed 
the management letter and compliance with points in the management letter, risk 

Message from 
The Greenery B.V.’s 
Supervisory Board

4.



management, the audit plan and financing.

In the year under review, the Supervisory Board Selection Committee 
comprised Messrs G.J. Beijer (Chairman), P.J.J.M. Swinkels, T.L.J. 
Ammerlaan and P.W.J.M. van Asseldonk. The committee met four times 
over the course of the financial year. In preparation of the adoption of 
resolutions, the Board discussed the following matters, among others, 
during these meetings: bonus objectives for 2011 and the settlement of 
the bonus objectives for General Management 2010, performance and 
remuneration of General Management, the selection of a new (external) 
Supervisory Board member, and the recruitment of a Commercial 
Director.

Appointments and retirements
Mr T.L.J Ammerlaan was scheduled for retirement and eligible for 
reappointment in 2011, in accordance with the Supervisory Board’s 
retirement schedule. He was reappointed for a new four-year term on 30 
March 2011. Mr A. Vos was appointed a Board Member on 
30 March 2011.

Mr B.J. de Lange retired from the Supervisory Board on 30 March 2011. 
The Board wishes to thank Mr de Lange for his work and contributions.
 
In connection with the developments with regard to the segments 
within the Cooperative and in view of a possible conflict of interests, 
Mr J.C.M. van der Voort did not attend any Board meetings as of 8 July 
2011 and did not participate in adopting resolutions. He retired from the 
Supervisory Board on 1 October 2011. The Board wishes to thank Mr van 
der Voort for his efforts and contributions during his time with the Board.

The Supervisory Board would like to thank General Management, 
Management and all The Greenery’s employees for their efforts 
throughout the review year.

Barendrecht, 7 March 2012

The Greenery B.V. Supervisory Board
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	 Jeroen	Klapboom		
	 andijvie teler

“	Accabo	ressit	
	 exerro	blabo.	
	 Nobissunt,	nest		 	
as	experor	estio
	 ea	suntur”.

2011 Financial Statements
Coöperatie Coforta U.A.
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Assets Note 2011 2010

Fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets 6.1 16.669 18.464

Tangible fixed assets 6.2 255.483 262.270

Financial fixed assets 6.3 49.143 40.144

321.295 320.878
Current assets
Stocks 6.4 14.039 20.950

Debtors 6.5 152.466 164.980

Cash at bank and in hand 8.039 2.553

174.544 188.483

Total assets 495.839 509.361

amounts in thousands of euros

Liabilities Note 2011 2010

Group equity 6.6

Equity 74.888 72.731

Minority shares in group equity (93) (162)

74.795 72.569

Product funds 6.8 6.068 7.083

Provisions 6.9 92.066 99.626

Long-term liabilities 6.10 77.338 80.765

Short-term liabilities 6.11 245.572 249.318

421.044 436.792

Total liabilities 495.839 509.361

Capital base 6.7 206.615 208.960
Capital base as a percentage of total assets 41,7% 41,0%

amounts in thousands of euros

1   Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2011

Please see the notes to the consolidated balance sheet on page 60 for the composition of the capital base.



Note 2011 2010

Total operating income 7.1 1.608.942 1.842.624

Less: commission on product sales (510.328) (579.408)

Net turnover 1.098.614 1.263.216

Cost of goods for resale and work contracted out 899.288 1.050.033

Wages and salaries 75.871 76.371

Social security charges 11.440 10.467

Pension and early retirement costs 6.9 9.367 8.449

Depreciation 7.2 22.003 26.124

Other operation costs 7.3 84.638 88.212

Total operating expenses 1.102.607 1.259.656

Operating result (3.993) 3.560

Financial income and expenses 7.4 (6.463) (7.529)

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation (10.456) (3.969)

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 7.6 3.000 496

Profit from participating interests 7.5 9.429 8.291

Group profit after taxation 1.973 4.818

Minority shares in group profit (69) (34)

Total profit after taxation 1.904 4.784

amounts in thousands of euros

2   Consolidated profit and loss account for 2011
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2011 2010

Operating activities
Operating result (3.993) 3.560

Depreciation 22.003 26.124

Impairment of tangible fixed assets (5.339) (7.709)

Movement in provisions 945 (7.628)

Movement in working capital (12.583) 2.759

Cash flow from business operations 1.033 17.106
Interest (paid or) received (3.807) (4.544)

Corporate income tax (paid or) received 1.559 (5.286)

Cash flow from operating activities (1.215) 7.276

Investing activities
Additions to tangible fixed assets (25.413) (15.220)

Disposals of tangible fixed assets 14.725 20.697

Loans granted (833) (8.692)

Repayment of loans granted 35 2.810

Dividends received 675 0

Acquisition and disposal of participating interests (257) 0

Cash flow from investment activities (11.068) (405)

Cash flow from operating and investment activities (12.283) 6.871

Financing activities
Movement in bank loans and other loans 28.719 9.086

Movement in members’ loans and liquidity levy (7.358) (12.065)

Movement in product funds (2.901) (2.192)

Repurchase of depositary receipts (378) 0

Cash flow from financing activities 18.082 (5.171)

Net cash flow 5.799 1.700

Exchange and currency translation differences in cash at 
bank and in hand (315) (790)

Movement in cash at bank and in hand 5.484 910

amounts in thousands of euros

3   Consolidated cash flow statement for 2011
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2011 2010

Consolidated net profit after taxation
allocable to the legal entity 1.904 4.784

Revaluation of participating interests 59 184

Revaluation of property 437 5.069

Revaluation of foreign 100% participating interests   
due to exchange gains and losses 135 92

Total result 2.535 10.129

amounts in thousands of euros

4   Statement of Total result for 2011
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Introduction

Coöperatie Coforta U.A. was incorporated on 25 October 1996 and has its registered office in The 
Hague, the Netherlands. It is the sole shareholder of The Greenery B.V. 

Amounts included in the notes are amounts in thousands of euros, unless stated otherwise.

Principal activities
The Cooperative holds the entire share capital of The Greenery B.V. The Greenery is a leading, 
international company engaged in obtaining a full range of fruit, vegetables and mushrooms 
from around the world and supplying these fresh every day to its customers throughout the year. 
Its customers are mainly wholesalers and supermarket chains in Europe and North America. The 
company also supplies caterers and industry. The Greenery B.V. has branches in 11 countries and its 
policy and approach focus on market orientation, food safety, sustainability, innovation and logistics 
efficiency.

Classification
In the interests of comparability, figures for long-term and short-term loans over 2010 have been 
adjusted to align with the presentation used for the year under review.

Mergers and acquisitions
2011 saw the establishment of a foreign company, PTLA Holding Participacões LTDA, in which The 
Greenery B.V. has a 49% interest. PTLA Holding has an interest of 99% in two foreign companies, in 
which another subsidiary of The Greenery B.V. has acquired a share of 1%. 

Also in 2011, the minority interest in the company Inova Fruit B.V. was expanded to 40%. Also during 
2011, a non-active company was dissolved.

Other events
Last year’s Annual Report referred to an investigation carried out by The Netherlands Competition 
Authority (NMa) into breaches of the Competitive Trading Act in the fruit and vegetables sector. As 
part of this investigation, the NMa visited The Greenery in July 2009. In 2010, the NMa issued a report 
on bell peppers to a number of parties. The Greenery received no such report. In 2011, the NMa 
conducted no further investigative activities with respect to The Greenery.
 
Profit and loss account
The company profit and loss account has been drawn up in accordance with the provisions of Section 
402 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of the Cooperative include the financial data of the group 
companies that the Cooperative controls. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the accounting policies of the Cooperative. The financial data of the Cooperative 
is included in the consolidated financial statements and, in accordance with Section 402 of Book 2 of 
the Dutch Civil Code, the company profit and loss account has therefore been drawn up in an abridged 
format.  

The financial data of group companies and other legal entities and companies included in the 
consolidation are consolidated in full. Inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated. 

5   General notes



51

Minority interests in the equity and results of group companies are disclosed separately in the 
consolidated financial statements. 

The results of newly acquired group companies and other legal entities and companies included in 
the consolidation are consolidated from the date of acquisition. The results of disposed participating 
interests are consolidated to the date they left the group. 

A list of the names and registered offices of group companies and non-consolidated participating 
interests has been filed at the Chamber of Commerce in Rotterdam. An abridged list of group 
companies is included on page 76.

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of Part 9 
of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

Unless stated otherwise, the financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention. Assets and liabilities are carried at face value unless stated otherwise in the notes on 
specific balance sheet items.

Income and expenses are allocated to the year to which they relate. Profits are recognised only 
if realised at the balance sheet date. Losses originating before the end of the financial year are 
recognised if they are known before the financial statements are prepared.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments refer to both primary financial instruments such as debtors and liabilities as well 
as financial derivatives. Please refer to the treatment per balance sheet item for the accounting policies 
relating to the primary financial instruments.  

The Cooperative’s policy is to limit risks to an acceptable level where possible, including managing 
credit, liquidity and cash flow risks. Much of the credit risk is insured with a credit insurer. Foreign 
exchange positions are largely covered by forward exchange transactions. Some foreign exchange 
positions are also hedged using option contracts. Interest-rate derivatives are used to hedge 
interest risks.

Hedging instruments at cost
Financial instruments that serve to hedge risks and whose underlying securities are not publicly listed, 
or for which no hedge accounting is applied, are stated at current value. Revaluation results stated at 
fair value at the balance sheet date are taken directly to the profit and loss account.

The Cooperative applies hedge accounting based on individual documentation for financial instruments 
having a specific individual hedge relationship. Generic documentation is applied to financial 
instruments having a non-specific hedge relationship. The Cooperative documents the way in which 
hedge relationships match the objectives of risk management, hedging strategy and expectations on 
the effectiveness of the hedge.

General information on cost hedge accounting
The effective portion of financial derivatives allocated to cost hedge accounting is valued at cost and 
the ineffective portion at fair value. The fair value changes on the ineffective portion are taken directly 
to the profit and loss account.



Cost hedge accounting for hedging monetary, foreign currency balance sheet items
The foreign currency components of both hedged balance sheet items and forward exchange 
contracts that function as a hedging instrument are stated at the exchange rate effective on the 
balance sheet date.

Cost hedge accounting for hedging foreign currency futures transactions
The foreign currency component of forward exchange contracts that function as a hedging instrument 
for hedging futures transactions are stated at cost as long as the hedge position has not yet been 
recognised in the balance sheet.

Unrealised losses on financial instruments that do not serve to hedge risks or are intended to hedge 
future cash flows are taken directly to the profit and loss account.

Principles for foreign currency translation
Debtors, liabilities and commitments in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rates ruling 
at the balance sheet date. The exchange differences resulting from translation at the balance sheet 
date are taken to the balance sheet and profit and loss account, taking account of hedge transactions. 
Transactions in foreign currencies during the period under review are accounted for at the exchange 
rate at which they were settled.
Foreign group companies and non-consolidated participating interests qualify as autonomous foreign 
entities. The financial statements of the foreign entities are translated at the exchange rate at the 
balance sheet date for items in the balance sheet and at the average rate for items in the profit and 
loss account. Translation gains and losses are taken directly to group equity.

Accounting principles

Intangible fixed assets
Since 1999, goodwill arising on the purchase of shares and the acquisition of business activities has 
been capitalised. Assets, provisions and liabilities at the date of acquisition are stated at fair value. The 
goodwill created is carried at the amount of the costs incurred, less accumulated amortisation and, if 
applicable, impairment. Amortisation is based on the expected useful life (20 years). An impairment 
analysis is carried out in the event of any indications that could lead to possible readjustment of the 
valuation of the capitalised goodwill.
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Tangible fixed assets
Buildings and land
Land and buildings are carried at current value. Land and buildings in use by the company on a long-
term basis are carried at replacement value. Land and buildings held with the intention of being sold 
in the foreseeable future and not replaced are carried at estimated realisable value. EU grants received 
are deducted from this value.

Replacement value and realisable value, which are based on appraisals carried out by external experts, 
are updated on the basis of market information, specific index figures and market data for each 
location. Value adjustments in the financial year are taken to the revaluation reserve, net of deferred 
taxes. Depreciation for buildings is based on the expected useful life of the building.
Depreciation is not applied to land.

Other tangible fixed assets
Other tangible fixed assets are carried at the cost of acquisition or production, net of straight-line 
depreciation determined for each category of assets based on their expected useful lives and allowing 
for any residual value. Assets are depreciated from the date they are taken into use. EU grants received 
are deducted from this value.

Financial fixed assets
Participating interests where no significant influence is exercised on commercial and financial policy 
are carried at net asset value. Participating interests with a negative net asset value are valued at nil. 
Net asset value is determined in accordance with the Cooperative’s accounting policies. Where the 
company has either wholly or partially guaranteed debts payable by the relevant participating interest, 
a provision has been formed which is primarily charged to receivables from this participating interest 
and the remainder to the provisions, in the amount of the remaining share in the losses incurred by 
the participating interest or of the expected payments to be made by the company on behalf of these 
participating interests.

Amounts receivable from, and loans to participating interests and other debtors are carried at face 
value, net of any allowances considered necessary.  Securities included in financial fixed assets are 
carried at market value at the balance sheet date.
 
Stocks
Stocks are carried at the lower of cost and market value, net of provisions for obsolescence where 
necessary. Stocks of reusable packaging are carried at the refundable amount, unless held on 
consignment.

Debtors
Debtors are carried at face value, net of provisions for doubtful debts where necessary. These 
provisions are determined based on an individual assessment of the debtors.

Cash at bank and in hand
Cash at bank and in hand is carried at face value and is at the company’s free disposal.

Product funds
Product funds consist of levies raised on growers. Product funds are carried at face value and may 
only be used to defray the cost of commercial activities such as promotions, product research and care 
systems, after consultation with growers’ representatives.
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Provisions
Pension provisions
The pension provisions are carried in accordance with International Accounting Standard 19 (IAS 19), 
as permitted by Guideline 271, section 101.  

The Cooperative and its subsidiaries have several pension plans. No provision is formed under IAS 
19, Employee Benefits, for the industry-wide pension fund of Stichting Bedrijfspensioenfonds voor 
de Agrarische en Voedselvoorzieningshandel, Pensioenfonds Vervoer or the Defined Contribution 
Plan. The pension plan managed by Stichting Bedrijfspensioenfonds voor de Agrarische en 
Voedselvoorzieningshandel and Pensioenfonds Vervoer is a defined contributions plan. According to 
IAS 19, contributions paid into a defined contributions plan may be entered directly in the profit and 
loss account.

Defined contribution pension plans
Liabilities with respect to contributions to defined contribution pensions and related plans are 
recognised as an expense in the profit and loss account in the period to which they relate.

Defined benefit pension plans
The liabilities for defined benefits are calculated separately for each pension plan at the balance sheet 
date. The calculation is based on the projected unit credit actuarial method. The fair value of the fund 
assets and unamortised actuarial losses are deducted from the calculated liability. The discount rate 
is the yield at the balance sheet date on good quality corporate bonds whose term to maturity is 
approximately equal to the term of the group’s liabilities. 

If the calculation results in a debtor for the group, the asset is recognised up to the net amount of 
unamortised actuarial losses and the discounted value of future refunds or lower future pension 
contributions.

Other long-term employee compensation
The liability for other deferred employee compensation (early retirement and long-service awards) is 
calculated in the same way as for defined-benefit pension entitlements. Actuarial gains and losses are 
recognised in the profit and loss account.

Deferred tax
A provision is formed for future tax liabilities resulting from timing differences between the valuation 
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting and for tax purposes. The provision is carried at its non-
discounted value on the basis of the ruling tax rate, with the exception of land in use by the company 
on a long-term basis, to which a rate of 20% applies.

Other provisions
Other provisions are carried at their non-discounted value.

Income and expenses

In accordance with Section 362(4) of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, the Annual Accounts Formats 
Decree has been departed from in order to provide better insight into operations in the profit and 
loss account. Net turnover has been broken down into ‘Total operating income’ and ‘Commission on 
product sales’.
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Net turnover
Net turnover represents the income from the supply of goods and services to third parties, net of VAT 
and discounts. Net turnover also includes the commission on product sales. Total operating income 
comprises net turnover plus the cost of product sales from commission business activities and the 
sales of member products marketed by the group. Operating subsidies are recognised in the profit and 
loss account in the year in which the subsidised expenditure was incurred.

Costs
Expenses are determined in accordance with the above accounting policies and allocated to the 
reporting year to which they relate.

Tax
Corporate income tax is computed on the net profit or loss at the tax rate ruling for the year, taking 
account of permanent differences for computing the result for financial reporting and tax purposes. 
Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that they are likely to be realised.
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Profit from participating interests
The Cooperative’s share in the results of participating interests is recognised where significant 
influence is exercised on commercial and financial policy.

Cash flow statement

The cash flow statement has been prepared using the indirect method. In general, the cash flow 
statement reflects the movements in the consolidated balance sheet, with separate presentation 
under cash flow from investing activities in the case of the acquisition or sale of consolidated 
participating interests, of the acquired net asset value, less cash at bank in hand, and increased by 
any goodwill paid. Exchange rate movements are eliminated from balance sheet movements, as 
they do not represent cash flows. Partly for the above two reasons, the movements in the cash flow 
statement cannot always be directly derived from the movements in the related balance sheet items.

Cash flows in foreign currency are translated at an average exchange rate. Exchange differences 
on cash are recognised separately in the cash flow statement. Profits tax and interest are stated 
under cash flow from operating activities. Dividends received are stated under cash flow from 
investing activities.
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Goodwill 2011 2010

Net book value as at 1 January 18.464 20.261
Other movements 67 68
Depreciation (1.862) (1.865)
Net book value as at 31 December 16.669 18.464

Accumulated cost 36.806 36.739
Accumulated cost and other impairments (20.137) (18.275)
Net book value as at 31 December 16.669 18.464

amounts in thousands of euros

Buildings and land 217.505 7.046 (5.538) 0 (226) (9.339) 2.625 211.156 0-3

Machinery and 
equipment 31.545 10.460 (7.827) 0 915 (6.084) 2.056 31.065 10

Vehicles 6.910 2.420 (327) 0 830 (2.742) 601 7.692 20

Other fixed assets 4.437 274 (116) 0 264 (1.976) 395 3.278 20-33

Tangible fixed 
assets on order 1.873 2.280 0 0 (1.861) 0 0 2.292

Total 262.270 22.480 (13.808) 0 (78) (20.141) 5.677 255.483

amounts in thousands of euros

6   Notes to the consolidated balance sheet

6.1  Intangible fixed assets

6.2  Tangible fixed assets

The release of EU grants received is recognised as other movements.
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The assessment of current value during 2011 did not result in revaluation.  The additions of EUR 22.5 
million (2010: EUR 14.2 million) are stated net of EU grants of EUR 12.5 million (2010: EUR 8.3 million). 

The book value as at 31.12.11 includes EUR 28.1 million relating to capital expenditure at the 
cultivation companies of members of the Cooperative, EUR 18.0 million of which was invested in 2011. 
The release of EU grants received is recognised as other movements. 

Cost, accumulated revaluation, accumulated depreciation and net book values as at 31.12.11 were as 
follows: 

The accumulated unrealised revaluation at 31 December 2011 amounted to EUR 104,795 (2010: EUR 
106,507). Deferred tax has been recognised on this.
 

Buildings and land 220.630 104.795 (114.269) 211.156

Machinery and equipment 58.003 0 (26.938) 31.065

Vehicles 26.360 0 (18.668) 7.692

Other fixed assets 19.009 0 (15.731) 3.278

Fixed assets on order 2.292 0 0 2.292

Total 326.294 104.795 (175.606) 255.483

amounts in thousands of euros
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2011 2010

Non-consolidated participating interests 37.686 28.675
Other long-term debtors 11.457 11.469

Total 49.143 40.144

2011 2010

Non-consolidated participating interests
Net asset value at 1 January 28.675 20.384
Acquisitions 257 0
Share in result 9.429 8.291
Other movements (675) 0

Net asset value as at 31 December 37.686 28.675

Amounts receivable from participating interests
Net book value as at 1 January 0 2.810
Repayment of loans 0 (2.810)

Net book value as at 31 December 0 0

Other long-term debtors
Net book value as at 1 January 11.469 2.777
Loans granted 0 8.562
Movements in advances 302 130
Repayment of loans (35) 0
Revaluation of foreign currency 239 0
Other movements (518) 0

Net book value as at 31 December 11.457 11.469

amounts in thousands of euros

 
6.3  Financial fixed assets

The amount recognised under long-term debtors is accounted for, inter alia, in a loan in British pounds 
to a British enterprise, subject to a variable interest rate percentage based on the Bank of England’s 
base lending rate, increased by a mark-up of 2.25%. 

The amount recognised under other movements relates to a loan whose payment term expires on 
30 September 2012 and which was therefore recognised in 2011 under other short-term loans.
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2011 2010

Packaging 8.056 9.410
Goods for resale 5.983 11.540

Total 14.039 20.950

amounts in thousands of euros

2011 2010

Trade debtors 110.778 134.653
EU grants 8.737 3.430
Other debtors 18.035 14.222
Prepayments and accrued income 14.916 12.675

Total debtors 152.466 164.980

amounts in thousands of euros

2011 2010

Equity 74.888 72.731
Product funds 6.068 7.083
Provision for deferred taxation 20.645 24.450
Members’ loans 59.982 62.682
Pension provision (IAS 19) 45.032 42.014

Total capital base 206.615 208.960

amounts in thousands of euros

6.4  Stocks

 
6.5  Debtors

 
6.6  Group equity

 
6.7  Breakdown of capital base

Please see note 10.2 to the company balance sheet on page 74 for a breakdown of 
shareholders’ equity. 

The total pension provision (IAS19) is EUR 46,710 (2010: EUR 44,535). Of this amount, EUR 1,678 
(2010: EUR 2,521) has been made to current and former employees. The remaining amount of EUR 
45,032 (2010: EUR 42,014) is a contingent liability and therefore this portion of the provision is 
included in the capital base.
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2011 2010

Net book value as at 1 January 7.083 7.409
Withdrawals (2.901) (2.192)
Additions charged to the result 1.772 1.787
Interest 114 79

Net book value as at 31 December 6.068 7.083

amounts in thousands of euros

2011 2010

Pensions 48.495 46.387
Deferred taxation 20.645 24.450
Other provisions 22.926 28.789

Net book value as at 31 December 92.066 99.626

amounts in thousands of euros

 
6.8 Product funds

 
6.9  Provisions

The product funds are short-term and subordinated. The rate of interest is based on one-month 
EURIBOR plus a mark-up of 0.5%.

Other movements in deferred taxation are mainly due to the limitation on depreciation of property for 
tax purposes as a result of legislative changes. Other movements in the other provisions are largely 
due to transfers to and from other provisions.

Provisions Deferred taxation Other

As at 1 January 2011 24.450 28.789

Withdrawals 0 (4.028)

Additions charged to the result 0 6.109

Release added to the result (1.464) (7.870)

Other movements (2.341) (72)

As at 31 December 2011 20.645 22.926

amounts in thousands of euros

The provisions are as follows:

Movements in deferred taxation and other provisions were as follows:
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Valuations as at 2011 2010

Discount rate 4,7 4,4
Expected return on plan assets
- Shares 5,8 6,0
- Bonds 3,8 3,0
- Cash and cash equivalents 3,0 3,0
- Other (rights) 4,7 4,4
Expected future salary increases 2,5 2,5
Expected future indexation 1,6 2,0
Expected future indexation of current pensions 1,6 2,0

in %

2011 2010

Mortality table AG prognosis table AG prognosis table

2010-2060 2010-2060
Age adjustment
man -1 -1
woman -2 -2
age difference man 3 years older man 3 years older

in years

 
 Net pension provision

The group contributes to a number of defined benefit plans in the Netherlands and the UK. The defined 
benefit pension is based largely on average salary and partly on final salary. Indexation of accrued and 
current entitlements is generally conditional. The calculations take account of the expected conditional 
indexation. The other countries have defined contribution plans.

The principal actuarial assumptions are as follows:
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2011 2010

Present value of obligations 199.704 209.802
Fair value of plan assets 182.936 178.553
Sub-total 16.768 31.249

Unrecognised actuarial gains 29.942 13.286
Net pension provision (IAS 19) 46.710 44.535

Other pension provisions 1.785 1.852

Total 48.495 46.387

amounts in thousands of euros

The defined benefit obligation in the balance sheet for defined benefit pension plans is as follows:

2011 2010

Service cost 5.158 4.385
Interest cost 9.250 9.340
Expected return on plan assets (7.916) (8.152)
Actuarial gains (382) (1.124)
Exchange gains and losses 11 66
Costs 246 249
Total for defined benefit plans 6.367 4.764

Pension cost for defined contribution plan 3.000 3.685

Total 9.367 8.449

amounts in thousands of euros

The profit and loss account includes the following amounts for defined benefit pension plans:

The strategic asset allocation is based on 65% fixed income and 35% variable yield.
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2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Defined benefit obligations
as at 31 December 199.704 209.802 175.424 166.027 203.366

Fair value of plan assets
as at 31 December 182.936 178.553 150.267 132.380 166.751

Deficit 16.768 31.249 25.157 33.647 36.615

amounts in thousands of euros

The expected return is based on the extrapolation of the returns per asset class using the relevant 
indexes. Given that this relates to insured contracts, the actual return remains uncertain.

The balance of commitments and investments over the past five years was as follows:

2011 2010

Fair value of plan assets as at 1 January 178.553 150.267
Expected return 7.916 8.153
Employer’s contributions 4.200 5.462
Employees’ contributions 837 826
Exchange gains and losses 84 182
Costs (246) (249)
Pensions paid (7.804) (8.262)
Actuarial gains and losses (604) 22.174

Plan assets as at 31 December 182.936 178.553

amounts in thousands of euros

The movements in the plan assets during the financial year were as follows:

2011 2010

Liability as at 1 January 209.802 175.424
Current service costs 5.967 5.211
Interest 9.250 9.340
Benefits paid (7.804) (8.262)
Actuarial gains and losses (17.592) 27.874
Exchange gains and losses 81 215

Liability as at 31 December 199.704 209.802

amounts in thousands of euros

 
The movements in the liability during the financial year were as follows:
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2011 2010

Mandatory members' loans 59.982 62.682
Other loans 17.356 18.083

Total 77.338 80.765

amounts in thousands of euros

The actuarial losses on the liability resulting from the adjusted actuarial assumptions amounts to EUR 
14,914 (2010: EUR 21,436 positive). As the pension provision was formed in accordance with the 
Guideline 271 in the years prior to 2009, no further data is available.

Other provisions
The deferred taxation provision relates chiefly to the revaluation of intangible fixed assets and the 
provision under IAS 19. 
The other provisions are for various risks, including the results of legal claims and tax matters. A 
provision has also been formed for costs arising from commitments for the redevelopment of current 
sites and reorganisation costs. 
Of the total provisions as at 31 December 2011, some EUR 11 million (2010: EUR 9 million) will be 
settled within one year and some EUR 41 million (2010: EUR 41 million) after five years.

 
6.10  Long-term liabilities

Refinancing
On 28 June 2011 a new refinancing arrangement was concluded that took effect on 29 June 2011.

Mandatory and voluntary members’ loans
Mandatory members’ loans are based on the liquidity levy, which is calculated in proportion to the 
value of the goods supplied. At the end of the year, the levy is converted into a mandatory members’ 
loan with a term of eight years and one day, with a starting date of 31 December and an expiry date 
of 1 January. The net amount of the long-term members’ loans is EUR 60.0 million (2010: EUR 62.7 
million). 
The interest on these members’ loans is added to the principal amount unless a request for payment 
of the interest is received by 31 March. 
The rate of interest on the mandatory loans is set each year. In 2011, the rates on the various loans 
ranged from 2.45% to 5.70%.

There were also voluntary members’ loans totalling EUR 11.4 million (2010: EUR 12.5 million) at 31 
December 2011 bearing interest rates between 1.50% and 2.50%. 

Mandatory members’ loans totalling EUR 10.2 million expire on 1 January 2012. Interest on these 
loans was paid at a rate of between 4.20% and 5.70% in 2011. Members’ loans that mature within 
one year plus the accrued interest are included in current liabilities. The portion of these members’ 
loans due after five years is EUR 28.6 million (2010: EUR 30.3 million). The interest accrued and 
payable on the mandatory and voluntary members’ loans is classified as subordinated capital as at 31 
December of the financial year. The members’ loans are subordinated to the bank loans.
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2011 2010

Credit institutions and short-term loans 64.486 35.040
Trade creditors 56.055 83.906
Grower creditors 16.325 12.945
Mandatory members’ loans 10.152 10.513
Voluntary members’ loans 11.397 12.529
Taxes and social security contributions 4.965 2.741
Pension contributions 2.345 2.259
Other liabilities 60.170 65.934
Accruals and deferred income 19.677 23.451

Total 245.572 249.318

amounts in thousands of euros

Security
The following security has been provided for the long and short-term loans from credit institutions:
• first mortgage on property, viz. three distribution centres
• pledge of debtors
• pledge of rights under credit insurance policy

 
6.11  Current liabilities

Other loans 
These are loans granted mostly by members of the Cooperative to finance capital expenditure by The 
Greenery B.V. on their behalf. The loans bear interest at rates between 0.86% and 1.90%, depending 
on the commencement date and term. The portion of these loans due after five years is EUR 17.0 
million (2010: EUR 16.5 million). 

Information on financial instruments

At 31 December 2011 The Greenery B.V. had interest-rate derivatives outstanding for a principal 
amount of EUR 50 million. These interest-rate derivatives mature as of 1 January 2017. They relate to 
long-term financing and are used to hedge interest-rate risks. The costs associated with interest-rate 
derivatives are amortised over the term of the underlying contracts. The fair value at 31 December 
2011 was EUR 850,000 (negative).

Forward currency contracts have been concluded to hedge currency risks arising on debtor positions 
in foreign currencies. Option contracts have also been concluded to hedge currency risks arising from 
future deliveries to specific buyers, involving outstanding options with a total value at financial year 
end of GBP 28.3 million maturing on 28 December 2012.

The total contract value of the outstanding positions as at 31 December 2011 maturing within one year 
amounted to some EUR 44.8 million (2010: EUR 53.7 million). The estimated fair value of the forward 
currency contracts at the balance sheet date is approximately EUR 2.5 million higher than the book 
value. All contracts mature within one year.
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Commitments not disclosed in the balance sheet 2011 2010

Guarantees and securities 29.388 26.489
Capital expenditure commitments 361 1.836
Lease and rental obligations 9.209 10.185
Other commitments 7.498 5.792

Total 46.465 44.302

amounts in thousands of euros

Guarantees and securities consist primarily of guarantees for EU grants. In addition, a pledge of 
EUR 0.2 million was granted for a minority share in 2011.  In addition, several legal proceedings 
were ongoing at the balance sheet date, for which provisions have been formed where considered 
necessary.

The amount recognised for capital expenditure commitments relates to movable property and totals 
EUR 0.4 million (2010: EUR 1.8 million). The capital expenditure commitment in property is nil 
(2010: nil).

In 2009, a lease agreement was concluded for a portion of the property (book value as at 31.12.11: 
EUR 13.5 million) with an option to buy the property exercisable in 2012.

Lease and rental obligations can be broken down as follows:
• Payable in 2012: EUR 4,803
• Payable in 2013 to 2016: EUR 4,406

Related party transactions

In 2011 The Greenery concluded transactions with the non-consolidated participating interests 
Europool System B.V., Hessing B.V. and Inova Fruit B.V.. These transactions were conducted on arm’s 
length terms. 
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Geographic spread 2011 2010

The Netherlands 802.373 864.627
Germany 210.428 242.364
United Kingdom 185.137 252.799
Rest of Europe 321.776 388.043
Rest of the world 89.228 94.791

Total 1.608.942 1.842.624

amounts in thousands of euros

2011 2010

Intangible fixed assets (1.862) (1.865)
Tangible fixed assets (20.141) (24.259)

Total (22.003) (26.124)

amounts in thousands of euros

Breakdown by category 2011 2010

Fruit and vegetables 1.518.412 1.747.149
Provision of services and other income 90.530 95.475

Total 1.608.942 1.842.624

amounts in thousands of euros

Total operating income comprises net turnover plus the cost of product sales from commission business 
activities and the sales of member products marketed by The Greenery B.V.

Provision of services and other income
This income includes logistics services, transport, rental and other operating income that includes an 
amount of EUR 12.5 million (2010: EUR 10.0 million) relating to EU grants.

7   Notes to the consolidated profit and loss account

Total operating income

 
7.1  Total operating income

 
7.2 Depreciation
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Audit of the financial 
statements

310 70 380 310 70 380

Other audit engagements 223 0 223 223 0 223
Other non-audit services 104 0 104 34 0 34

Total 637 70 707 567 70 637

amounts in thousands of euros

2011 2010

Financial income 780 738
Financial expenses (7.243) (8.267)

Total (6.463) (7.529)

amounts in thousands of euros

Tangible fixed assets 2011 2010

Buildings and land (9.339 (10.215)
Machinery and equipment (6.084) (9.103)
Vehicles (2.742) (2.855)
Other fixed assets (1.976) (2.086)

Total (20.141) (24.259)

amounts in thousands of euros

Fees for the activities of the external auditor and the audit firm charged against the result for the 
financial year are included in other operating expenses for a sum of EUR 707,000 (2010: EUR 637,000). 
This amount is broken down as follows:

Financial income and expenses mainly relate to interest income and expenses. The balance of interest 
paid to and interest received from related parties is nil (2010: EUR 0.1 million received). This item 
represents the profits and losses of non-consolidated participating interests.

 
7.3  Other operating expenses

7.4  Financial income and expenses
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7.6  Tax
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Number of full-time equivalents (FTEs) employed at year-end 2011 2010

Board/MT/office 577 591
Logistics 759 864
Transport and other 171 176

Total 1.507 1.631

fte’s

Gross profit Corporate 
income tax

25%
Profit for 2011 (10.456) (2.614)
Permanent differences 1.453 363

(9.003) (2.251)

Different rate of tax on foreign participating interests 555
Settlement of prior year returns (1.304)

Tax according to the profit & loss account (3.000)

amounts in thousands of euros

The permanent differences mostly concern non-deductible amortisation of goodwill. The Greenery 
B.V. and its wholly-owned Dutch subsidiaries are members of a fiscal unit. As it was last year, the net 
available tax loss at consolidated companies is nil.

The average number of FTEs with permanent employment contracts during 2011 was 1,585 
(2010: 1,643). The average number of temporary staff in FTEs was 970 (2010: 1,029). 

The tax payable is computed as follows

 
7.7  Workforce

This item represents the profits and losses of non-consolidated participating interests.

 
7.5  Profit from participating interests



71

Assets Note 2011 2010

Fixed assets
Group Company financial fixed assets 10.1 81.935 79.400

81.935 79.400
Current assets
EU grants receivable 8.737 3.430

Total assets 90.672 82.830

amounts in thousands of euros

Liabilities  Note 2011 2010

Group equity                                                                   10.2

Revaluation reserve 81.671 82.517

Other statutory reserves 34.629 25.740

General reserve (43.316) (40.310)

Profit for the financial year 1.904 4.784

74.888 72.731
Long-term liabilities
Group company                                                              10.3 5.462 5.084

Current liabilities
Group company 10.322 5.015

15.784 10.099

Total liabilities 90.672 82.830

amounts in thousands of euros

8   Company balance sheet as at 31 December 2011 
 (before profit appropriation)



9   Company profit and loss account for 2011

2011 2010

Contributions and other income 941 862
Other expenses (556) (455)
Financial income and expenses (385) (407)
Company result after taxation 0 0
Profit from participating interests after taxation 1.904 4.784

Company profit 1.904 4.784

amounts in thousands of euros
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10   Notes to the financial statements

General

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of Part 9 
of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. The accounting policies applied in the company financial statements 
are the same as those applied in the consolidated financial statements. Please see the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements for these accounting policies.

Participating interests are carried at net asset value. The result of participating interests represents the 
company’s share in the profit or loss for the financial year of the company concerned from the time it 
became part of the group or from the moment of acquisition.

The company profit and loss account has been drawn up in accordance with the provisions of Section 
402 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

10.1 Financial fixed assets

The Cooperative owns the entire share capital of The Greenery B.V., consisting of 281,000 Class A 
shares and 259,000 cumulative Class B preference shares. The Cooperative has issued depositary 
receipts for Class B shares to its members, of which over 5% were repurchased during 2011 and over 
70% were repurchased during 2008. 

The movements in the shareholders’ equity of The Greenery B.V. were as follows:

As at 1 January 2011 61.262 834 82.517 25.740 (95.737) 4.784 79.400

Revaluation  0 0 437 0 59 0 496

Realised revaluation
on depreciation 0 0 (1.283) 0 1.283 0 0
Dividends received 0 0 0 (675) 675 0 0

Prior-year profit 
appropriation 0 0 0 0 4.784 (4.784) 0
Addition to reserve for 
participating interests 0 0 0 9.429 (9.429) 0 0
Profit for the financial 
year 0 0 0 0 0 1.904 1.904
Exchange gains and 
losses and other 
movements 0 0 0 135 0 0 135

As at 31 December 
2011

61.262 834 81.671 34.629 (98.365) 1.904 81.935

amounts in thousands of euros
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The revaluation reserve is for changes in the value of tangible fixed assets carried at current value. 
Realisation of the revaluation reserve is taken to shareholders’ equity.

Other statutory reserves 
In addition to the reserve for participating interests, the other reserves required by law include the 
reserve for exchange gains and losses. The movements in that reserve were as follows:

As at 1 January 2011 82.517 25.740 (40.310) 4.785 72.731

Repurchase of depositary 
receipts 0 0 (378) 0 (378)
Revaluation 437 0 59 0 496

Realised revaluation on 
disposals and depreciation (1.283) 0 1.283 0 0
Dividends received 0 (675) 675 0 0

Prior-year profit appropriation 0 0 4.784 (4.784) 0

Addition to reserve for 
participating interests 0 9.429 (9.429) 0 0
Profit for the financial year 0 0 0 1.904 1.904

Exchange gains and losses and 
other movements 0 135 0 0 135

As at 31 December 2011 81.671 34.629 (43.316) 1.904 74.888

amounts in thousands of euros
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As at 1 January 2011 26.813 (1.073) 25.740

Revaluation (675) 0 (675)

Addition to reserve for participating interests 9.429 0 9.429

Exchange gains and losses 0 135 135

As at 31 December 2011 35.567 (938) 34.629

amounts in thousands of euros

Re
se

rv
e 

fo
r 

pa
rt

ic
ip

at
in

g 
in

te
re

st
s

Re
se

rv
e 

fo
r 

ex
ch

an
ge

 g
ai

ns
 a

nd
 

lo
ss

es

O
th

er
 s

ta
tu

to
ry

 
re

se
rv

es

Re
su

lt
 p

re
vi

ou
s

fin
an

ci
al

 y
ea

r

To
ta

l

 
10.2  Equity
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To finance the repurchase of depositary receipts, a company belonging to the group of The Greenery 
B.V. supplied a loan of EUR 5.5 million (2010: EUR 5.1 million) at a profit-related interest rate of 8%. 
The loan was issued for an indefinite period from 1 January 2009.

Remuneration of the members of the Board
The total charge to the Cooperative for the remuneration of Board members for 2011 was EUR 171 
(2010: EUR 213).

Events after the balance sheet date

Financing
In January 2012, a subsidiary, Greenery UK Ltd, concluded an agreement with a British trading and 
production company, under which agreement a loan of GBP 5.5 million with a variable interest rate 
was taken over.  A full transfer of shares accompanied this financing arrangement.

Furthermore, a loan agreement was concluded in January 2012 with a non-consolidated participating 
interest, Houdstermaatschappij Verpakkingsbedrijven B.V. A two-year loan of EUR 8.0 million was 
provided to The Greenery B.V., effective 1 January 2012. This loan is subject to an interest-rate 
percentage of 12 months Euribor plus a mark-up of 2.5%.

In January 2012, the enterprise took over the shares of a company that holds the plant breeder’s right 
for the pear variety Rode Doyenne van Doorn, as well as the licence for the pear variety Uta. 

 
10.3 Long-term liabilities

Management Board Coöperatie Coforta U.A.

Th.L.J. Ammerlaan Chairman
P.W.J.M. van Asseldonk Vice Chairman
Ir. B.J. Feijtel

A.W.G.M. Hop

P.S.C.Oostveen

J.C.M. van der Voort (till 1 October 2011)



Consolidated participating interest Registered office Share in capital (%)

The Greenery B.V. The Hague 100
Hollander Barendrecht B.V. Barendrecht 100
Disselkoen Airfreight B.V. De Lier 100
Greenery Belgium N.V. St Katelijne Waver (B) 100
Hagé International B.V. Barendrecht 100
Hoogsteder Groenten en Fruit B.V. Utrecht 100
Greenery UK Ltd. Huntingdon (UK) 100
Greenery España S.A. Carlet Valencia (E) 100
Internationaal Transportbedrijf Dijco B.V. Delft 100
J.H. Wagenaar GmbH Kempen (D) 100
J.H. Wagenaar B.V. Zwaagdijk 100
Exploitatiemaatschappij Jager B.V. Nieuweschans 100
Jager Holland B.V. Nieuw Amsterdam 100
Greenery Italia Srl. Verona (I) 100
Greenery Vastgoed B.V. The Hague 100
Handelsmaatschappij Jover B.V. Nieuwegein 100
Mulder Onions B.V. Bleiswijk 100
Greenery Produce B.V. Maasland 100
Greenery Poland Sp. z.o.o. Warsaw (PL) 100

Non-consolidated participating interests

Houdstermaatschappij Verpakkingsbedrijven B.V. Zoetermeer 78,57*
Inova Fruit B.V. Geldermalsen 40
Euro Pool System International B.V. (via Houdster-
maatschappij Verpakkingsbedrijven B.V. Leidschendam 26,2
Hessing B.V. Langedijk 45
PTLA Holding Participacoes LTDA Beberibe (BR) 49
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As at 31 December 2011 participating interests included the companies listed below. A full list of 
participating interests has been filed at the Chamber of Commerce in Rotterdam. 

* No decisive control under the Articles of Association 

11  List of participating interests
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Under Article 52 of the Articles of Association, the profit is appropriated as follows:

Article 52
The Members’ Council shall decide the appropriation of any profit based on a Board proposal. If the 
Members’ Council resolves to distribute all or a portion of the profit, the agreed amount shall be 
distributed to the members in proportion to their turnover in the most recent financial year. Such 
distribution may be made other than in cash, including in securities, such as depositary receipts for 
shares in the capital of The Greenery B.V.

The Board proposes to add the profit for 2011 of EUR 1,904 to the Cooperative’s equity capital, subject 
to an addition to the statutory reserve for participating interests of EUR 9,429. This proposal has not 
yet been incorporated into the financial statements.
 

12   Other information

12.1  Articles of Association provisions governing profit appropriation

12.2  Proposed profit appropriation
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12.3  Independent auditor’s report

To: the Management Board of Coöperatie Coforta U.A.

Report on the financial statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements 2011 of Coöperatie Coforta U.A., Barendrecht, 

which comprise the consolidated and company balance sheet as at 2011, the consolidated and company 

profit and loss account for the year then ended and the notes, comprising a summary of the accounting 

policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements and for the 

preparation of the General Management Report, both in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

Furthermore management is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the 

preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our

audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. This requires that we comply with 

ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 

of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 

statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis

for our audit opinion.

Opinion with respect to the financial statements

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Coöperatie Coforta U.A.

as at 31 December 2011 and of its result for the year then ended in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the

Dutch Civil Code.

Report on other legal or regulatory requirements
Pursuant to the legal requirement under Section 2:393 sub 5 at e and f of the Dutch Civil Code, we have no 

deficiencies to report as a result of our examination whether the General Management Report, to the extent 

we can assess, has been prepared in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of this Code, and whether the information

as required under Section 2:392 sub 1 at b-h has been annexed. Further we report that the General Management 

Report, to the extent we can assess, is consistent with the financial statements as required by Section 2:391 

sub 4 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Rotterdam, 7 March 2012

Deloitte Accountants B.V.

drs. D.A. Sonneveldt RA
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